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Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited (HKO1039; Hong Kong Stock
Exchange's website: http://www.hkex.com.hk) (the “Company” and, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), together with CCB International,
UnionPay Merchant, China Mobile, Bank of China and China Eastern Airlines
formed a joint venture to develop a global “Digital Point Business Ecosystem
Alliance” (the “Changyou Platform”) and to create a new blue ocean of a
pbrand new, sustainable and recyclable digital-points ecosystem by applying
digital points as financial assets.
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BRAND INTRODUCTION
OF THE CHANGYOU
PLATFORM

B & mhERE T

The Digital Point Ecosystem Alliance operational platform (“Changyou platform”) was jointly initiated by
the Group, CCB International and UnionPay Merchant, with investment from Bank of China, China Mobile
and China Eastern Airlines. The Changyou platform will make use of the abundant points resources

of the six founding shareholders to integrate its respective digital points, which are virtual assets that
have broad application prospects. The Changyou platform also aims to employ advanced technology
such as big data and blockchain to build the “Digital Point Business Ecosystem Alliance” and “Virtual
Asset Circulation and Settlement System”, which will be available globally. Through the continuous
global expansion of the platform, digital points will certainly be an important component of the asset
virtualization of internet digital inclusive financing. The digital points as virtual assets will bring brand new
experience for the Group and its customers for assets trading with high efficiency, high level of security,
intelligence and low cost, as well as settlement and preservation. Changyou symbolizes the internet
technology entering into a new phase and is one of the platforms which demonstrates the future of
financial industry ecosystems.
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China’s consumer market grows with continuous economic
development and steady improvement in the living standards of
residents in China. On 17 January 2020, the National Bureau
of Statistics of China announced the national economic data
for 2019, which indicates that China’s gross domestic product
amounted to RMB99,086.5 billion in 2019, representing a year-
on-year increase of 6.1% at constant prices. China’s economic
activities remained within a reasonable range, and its consumer
market recorded steady growth. Final consumption expenses
growth contributed to 57.8% of the overall economic growth.
Consumption has become the main driving force of economic
growth. The vast consumer market will directly drive the points
market and stimulate the vigorous growth of the digital points
market into a market worth trillions of RMB in value.

Structural adjustments were made to the Group’s Changyou
platform operation policy in 2019 in respect of customer
acquisition income, personnel structure optimisation and equity
trading business. In 2019, the Company expanded its equity
trading business by switching from building an equity trading
market only to establishing a vertically integrated industrial chain
model of equity trading. As for the specific development direction,
it changed from directly forming a trading market to attract trading
users to introducing merchants for primary equity sales first and
guiding users into participating in the trading market later when the
sales have reached a considerable size.

Thanks to the expertise, innovation and concerted cooperation of
all departments within the Group, the Changyou platform made
smooth progress and remarkable results were achieved in 2019.
The Group’s platform technology capability continued to improve
with the establishment of the blockchain infrastructure, which
enabled the application of blockchain technology to real-world
scenarios. In 2019, we established our cosmetics traceability
project and completed the preparation of Changyou Whitepaper
with respect to our technical system. For technical architecture,
we completed the spring cloud micro service upgrade and a
research and development process management system with a
core focus on agile development of the platform. Among our key
projects, connection between the equity asset trading platform
and the self-built merchant card issuance system was established,
and the cooperation in respect of prepaid card filing, livestreaming
platform, merchant telephone call credits, APP upgrades, multiple
key account equity integration, QR code payment 020, Ping’an
Bank C2C channel, Bestone and supplier commission was
realised.
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Chairman’s Statement
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The Company also conducted marketing through multiple
channels. The brand value of Changyou was enhanced through
marketing, promotional activities, brand building and public
relations communication in order to facilitate business development
and increase its long-term value, so that the Changyou platform
can serve more customers and that more people and enterprises
can benefit from the Changyou brand. In 2019, a total of 128
posts were published on the Group’s Changyou platform WeChat
account, and a Changyou livestreaming room was launched
to promote the Changyou platform via short video clips and
livestreaming plans for the purposes of brand communication and
user retention.

The Company also made considerable progress in cross-
industry cooperation in 2019. In the first half of the year alone, the
Company shared channel resources with koubei.com, baixing.
com, Lalamove, EVCARD and Jingdong Daojia. The channel
interchange has generated positive results and laid a foundation
for further cooperation in future.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude to our
management and staff for their dedication and contribution to the
Group throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

By order of the board
Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited

Cheng Jerome

Chairman
31 March 2020
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The Group has capitalised on its years of experience in the
e-commerce business, which has enabled the Group to grasp
market opportunities and enter the digital points business segment
and industry. In the second half of 2017, the Group formed
the Changyou digital point business ecosystem alliance (the
“Changyou Alliance”) with CCB International (Holdings) Limited
(“CCB International”), China UnionPay Merchant Services
Company Limited (“UnionPay Merchant”), Bank of China Group
Investment Limited (“‘Bank of China”), China Mobile (Hong Kong)
Group Limited (“China Mobile”) and China Eastern Airlines
Corporation Limited (“China Eastern Airlines”). With an aim to
integrate the digital membership points, resources and strategic
advantages of the business partners in the Changyou Alliance,
the Group has developed an electronic trading platform, the
Changyou platform. The Group strives to develop the Changyou
platform as an integrative and secured platform, so as to preserve
and maximise the value of digital points as virtual assets for the
platform users.

With the development of blockchain technology, digital assets
have received increasing attention from the industry. By leveraging
advanced technologies such as blockchain and big data, the
Changyou Alliance aims to develop a global financial platform for
the issuance, circulation, trading, storage and payment settlement
of blockchain tokenisation of assets.

Since the launch of the Changyou platform, the platform has
undergone rapid development, with an increasing number of
users, more diversified products and services, as well as optimised
business models and consumption scenarios. The total revenue
from the business operations of the Changyou Alliance and the
Changyou platform (collectively, the “Digital Point” business)
increased to approximately RMB204.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: approximately RMB51.0 million),
representing an increase of approximately 300.2% as compared to
2018.

The gross merchandise volume of the Digital Point business
amounted to approximately RMB330.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: approximately RMB174.0 million),
representing an increase of approximately RMB156.0 million
(approximately 89.7%) over the same period of last year. The
Group is currently negotiating with a number of potential business
partners to further enhance the Changyou platform and expand its
business scope into other sectors.
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The sectors covered by the Changyou platform became further
diversified in 2019. Based on the Company’s business conditions
and future plans, the management changed the business
diversification from by sector to by actual business scenarios, with
a focus on clear delineation of principal activities as its business
model. The Company’s business covers four major segments,
being its (i) digital points payment system, (i) financial cooperation
business, (iii) business circle segment, and (iv) digital points mall
business. Each business segment is operated according to the
characteristics of the respective business scenarios in order to
improve operational efficiency.

The Group offers points consumption services and points
cashier output services. The Group further optimised
offline QR code payment self-operation model business
system and front and back office functions to ensure the
effectiveness of its income model and the stability and
operational efficiency of its business functions. We expanded
offline QR code payment cooperation channels to enrich the
variety of consumer products. We also expanded the range
of key online point payment merchant pilots to improve the
Changyou digital point output capacity and to enable more
connections to a number of merchants. Certain merchants
including Ruixiang Shopping (&1 1&F|##) and Jiangsu
One Card (L& —i8) have commenced operations
on the platform. The business proposals and product
logistics for the digital point exchange and integration with
the digital points of Crlife Club (2E3®) and Family Mart
(%) have been determined, and the number of active users
have increased. The Group completed the research and
development and pilot operation of the digital point payment
system under the cooperation with UnionPay Merchant, and
assisted UnionPay Merchant in completing the operational
marketing training for UnionPay Merchant’s subsidiaries
across China. The Changyou Pay WeChat applet was
launched, which solved the problem that a customer must
download an APP to enable QR code payment to UnionPay
Merchants, and the Changyou Pay authentic name
verification process was optimised.

With the improvement of China’s financial market and
the rapid development of information technology, the
“pan-financial” era has gradually moved on track with
numerous emerging internet financial models. Users can
monetise Changyou points via Changyou Pay (5 1)
on the Changyou platform. Changyou Pay also enhances
the standardised, low-cost and efficient Changyou points
services for small and medium enterprises.
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The Group optimised direct accessibility to its loan products
and explored user profiles, and increased the connections
on the Changyou platform to a total of 35 institutions
including banks and consumer financial institutions. The
Group further enriched brand resources by introducing
brands including Huawei, Xiaomi, and Vivo, and also
strengthened the development of its B2B and B2B2C
installment payments business, and a diversified business
model incorporating direct sales, enterprise sourcing and
third-party introductions was formed.

The Group selected suitable financial products and services
ranging from insurance, funds and wealth management to
smart investment advisory services. Promotion of credit
cards and insurance products was strengthened to ensure
complete product coverage. Upon filing with the China
Insurance Regulatory Commission, the Group adopted an
innovative model of Insurance Purchase with Points (21& %
BE1RER), which is the first in the industry. The Group entered
into agreements with several renowned licensed financial
institutions in respect of its cooperation on business
promotions, including 12 partnering banks for credit card
cooperation and four institutions for promotion.
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The Group conducted targeted big data marketing through
pilot cooperation with Bank of China, and provided
customers with consumer credit tools such as payment by
instalment.

With continuous growth of consumer demand and
accelerated upgrading of consumer spending structure,
China’s economy is entering a new stage of consumption-
driven development. To cater for the current consumption
trends and improving quality of life, Changyou’s digital
points mall has introduced various differentiated and high-
quality products to the Changyou platform via a cooperation
model of “introducing and connecting new merchants” (4
AL +¥7$%) with popular social e-commerce platforms
in China within the platform’s vertical business model,
such as JD, NetEase Yeation, NetEase Kaola, Pinduoduo,
Xiaoxiangyoupin and Xiaohongshu. In the digital points
mall, users can make purchases with digital points as if
they were real money. Changyou will then make online
rebate settlements with such cooperation platforms after
calculation of the customers’ consumption of the products
and services, which will improve the profits of both the
Group and such cooperation platforms.

The business circle segment serves as the basic function
of the Changyou platform with a focus on increasing the
variety of goods, offering more necessities and improving
the value of goods and services available on the platform.
In 2019, the Group recorded satisfactory results in its self-
operated digital points mall business, cooperation with third
parties and expansion of marketing tools.
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Electronic coupons: 200 contracted card brands,
involving shopping malls, supermarkets, department
stores, food and beverage, video entertainment, online
consumption and travelling service industries, reputable
brands of which include: Family Mart, Walmart, Carrefour,
Starbucks, KFC, Suning.com, Tmall, JD, Tencent Video,
Ximalaya, lgiyi, Maoyan Movie, Didi, Haagen-Dazs, Sinopec,
PetroChina and Godiva.

Physical goods: As at the end of December 2019,
the stock keeping unit of the digital points mall reached
12,000, covering ten categories including kitchen supplies,
maternal and infant supplies and toys, food and liquor,
digital products, textiles, home appliances, gifts and bags,
cosmetics and personal skin care products, automotive
supplies, outdoor and sports goods of 752 brands. A flash
sale section was held to attract users with discounted
goods packages, which recorded growing sales since its
launch in March 2019. Cost per sales cooperation platforms
including Pinduoduo, JD, Taobao Alliance and Aikucun
were also introduced to leverage existing channel resources
for traffic conversion and user reception, with goods
covering clothings, shoes and hats, fruit, fresh products and
household products.

Building on the foundation of the digital points mall’s
B2C sales, vertical sales of telephone call credits, BesTV
membership cards and other benefits to merchants,
the Group successfully made profit in the year in which
it commenced operation. The Group completed the
introduction of 25 downstream customers and six upstream
suppliers, which ensured the provision of stable and high-
quality mobile topping-up services at competitive prices
and established a solid foothold in the industry. The basic
framework of Changyou’s B2B direct sales platform was
established. With the mobile topping-up business, the initial
phase of system building and optimisation was completed,
and basic service rules and process have been established.
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The Group recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately
RMB204.1 million (2018: approximately RMB51.0 million),
representing an increase of approximately 300.2% as compared to
2018.

The increase in total revenue of the Group was mainly due to the
continuing development and significant expansion of the Digital
Point business for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to
approximately RMBO0.8 million, as compared with the gross loss
of approximately RMB8.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2018. The turnaround position from gross loss to gross profit was
mainly due to the reduction of promotional campaigns that use
most favourable product price to attract users to maintain loyalty
to the Changyou platform, the increase in diversified products and
services and the introduction of more clear delineation of business
segments to improve operational efficiency.

Other income of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
was approximately RMB4.2 million (2018: approximately RMB2.9
million). A detailed breakdown of the factors contributing to the
other income of the Group is disclosed in note 5 to the financial
statements as disclosed in this report.

Impairment losses of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately RMB36.8 million, which mainly represents
the impairment loss on a loan to a third party (2018: approximately
RMB26.5 million).

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 decreased to approximately RMB37.3 million
(2018: approximately RMB113.1 million). The decrease was mainly
attributable to reduced sales and promotion activities for Changyou
platform during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31
December 2019 decreased to approximately RMB75.7 million
(2018: approximately RMB85.8 million). The decrease was mainly
attributable to the cessation of the operation of the e-commerce
business in 2018 and no accruals of equity-settled share-base
payment expenses during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Research and development costs of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019 decreased to approximately RMB44.2
million (2018: approximately RMB49.3 million). The research and
development costs were relatively stable in 2019.

The Group incurred finance costs of approximately RMB5.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019, while the Group incurred
finance income of approximately RMB17.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018. A detailed breakdown of the factors
contributing to the finance income/costs of the Group is disclosed
in note 7(a) to the financial statements as disclosed in this report.

No income tax expenses was recorded for the year ended 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2019, cash and cash equivalents of the
Group were approximately RMB137.8 million (as at 31 December
2018: approximately RMB97.4 million). As compared to 2018,
cash and cash equivalents increased by approximately RMB40.4
million, mainly due to net cash outflow arising from operating
activities of approximately RMB134.2 million (2018: approximately
RMB245.8 million), net cash inflow arising from investing activities
of approximately RMB0.3 million (2018: net cash outflow of
approximately RMB25.7 million) and net cash inflow from financing
activities of approximately RMB171.9 million (2018: net cash
outflow of approximately RMB30.1 million).
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On 7 December 2017, the Company and Chance Talent
Management Limited (“Chance Talent”), an indirect wholly-
owned special purpose vehicle of CCB International (Holdings)
Limited, entered into a subscription agreement, pursuant to which
the Company shall issue US$10 million 13% secured convertible
bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) to Chance Talent. The
Convertible Bonds bear interest at 13% per annum with a maturity
date on 3 June 2019. For further details of the transaction, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 7 December
2017.

The issuance of Convertible Bonds was completed on 20
December 2017. The US$10 million payable by Chance Talent for
the subscription of the Convertible Bonds was satisfied by way of
off-setting the aggregate outstanding principal amount of US$10
million payable by the Company under the previous convertible
bonds issued by the Company to Chance Talent in June 2015.
Accordingly, no proceeds arose from the issue of the Convertible
Bonds.

On 10 July 2019, the Company entered into a framework deed
of amendment (the “Amendment Deed”) with Chance Talent
and Century Investment (Holding) Limited (“CIH”), and executed
an amendment deed poll pursuant to the Amendment Deed, to
amend, among other things, the maturity date of the Convertible
Bonds from 3 June 2019 to 3 June 2020. For further details of the
extension of the maturity date of the Convertible Bonds, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10 July 2019.

Since the issuance of the Convertible Bonds on 20 December
2017 and up to 31 December 2019, the Company partially
redeemed the Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of US$6 million. The total outstanding principal amount of
the Convertible Bonds as at 31 December 2019 was US$4 million.
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On 12 December 2016, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to place, through the placing agent, a maximum of
291,218,000 shares of the Company to independent placees at
a price of HK$1.98 per share (the “Placing”). For further details
of the transaction, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 16 December 2016, 22 December 2016, 6
January 2017, 3 October 2017 and 22 August 2018, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019, the actual use of the proceeds from the
Placing, which was completed on 6 January 2017, was as follows:

RZZE—R"F+ZA+=ZH AR HEEREI LIRS B -
Bt ARRIRESEBREERERAE AL ARERER1.08 B
TThL &5 %291,218,000 B ([BREEE]) - AKX SHHHE—
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ERBAZRAOT

Revised use of
the proceeds
from the Placing Actual use of the
(as previously proceeds from
disclosed in the the Placing since
annual report of 6 January 2017,
Original use of the Company for being the date of
the proceeds the year ended 31 completion of the

from the Placing December 2017) Placing
RETRESHE
FERERE B-Z-t%
(MAATEZE —AXBEERE
“E—t+E+=H BEBETHAH)
BHEETERE =t-RLEE RESEME
FEMERE  NERLARE) MEBERRAZ
(approximate) (approximate) (approximate)
RMB (million) RMB (million) RMB (million)
(847) (847) (849)
AR N N
Usage k=3 (BB (BB (BB
To fund the general working capital of the Group other than ~ BER-S—tF+-A=+—HI-FER 53 53 53
the Digital Point business for the year ended 31 December ~ {EASEREFREN £ 2 —REE
2017 Be
To fund the Company’s subscription of 50.1% inthe issued ~ BIEALRAIRBERERBHRAREETR 40 40 40
share capital of Treasure Ease Holdings Limited 7£50.1%
To fund the working capital requirement for operating the BEBE_T—tF+tZA=+—HLEFE 31 76 76
Digital Point business for the year ended 31 December EBUTRIERMBERLE R &
2017, which includes (a) capital expenditure (such as BErRT WEEERZREN - &
acquisition of information system hardware, software, e BUBMiTE ARBEIRE)
establishment of technological platform and construction R ERZER(WMEHEES - ANE
of engine rooms); and (o) operating expense requirement BRI RHAZEES)
(such as marketing expenses, human resources expenses
and office rent)
To fund (a) the capital expenditure; and (o) the operating AHEZT-NF+ZA=t—RILMEF 377 229 229
expense for developing and operating the Digital Point ERMETHIRHRES R ORRR
business for the two years ended 31 December 2019 (Notg) R EBH TN EBMOEERTIRM
B Wit
For interest-bearing instrument to allow flexibility in the BARENSTANGEARINEKENESERE - 47 47
Company'’s financial and treasury management EBRBEH
To fund the repurchase of shares of the Company REERAARRS - 9 9
For the repayment of secured loan RIEEEERER - 47 47
Total @t 501 501 501
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Note:

The detailed breakdown for (a) the capital expenditure; and (b) the operating
expense for developing and operating the Digital Point business for the two years
ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

Az -
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proceeds from the Placing
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30 June 2019) of the Placing
BETRESEMERE B-E2—t5-AXA"
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(849 (BE4))
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To fund the fixed expenses (comprising salaries and other BEHEZS—\F+A=T-HILFERER
administrative expenses) for the recruitment and retention of BREATUREERFAE G TANETRX
personnel and management and for the development of the (BEHS RAMATERS)
“Changyou” platform for the year ended 31 December 2018 120 120
To fund promotional and marketing activities to attract and maintain BEHE-_Z-NFT A=t HILFEETRER
customers’ loyalty and their participation and consumption of the EHEHARS| RERHBRRHEARKZLER
products and services provided on the “Changyou” platform for the EEGh | TAFRENERRRE
year ended 31 December 2019 106 1056
To fund the capital expenditure of the Digital Point business for the BEHE T NFT A=t -HUFEYTENEE
year ended 31 December 2019 ZERREY 4 4
Total @5t 229 229

On 26 March 2018, the Company and Century Investment
(Holding) Limited (“CIH”), the substantial shareholder of the
Company, entered into a warrant subscription agreement,
pursuant to which the Company shall issue 298,000,000
warrants (“Warrants”) to CIH at a subscription price of HK$0.01
per Warrant. The Company received the subscription price of
HK$2,980,000. For further details of the transaction, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 26 March 2018 and
27 June 2018, respectively, and the circular of the Company dated
5 July 2018. The Warrants were issued on 18 September 2018.
The net proceeds from the issue of Warrants (after deduction
of relevant expenses) of approximately HK$1,480,000 was fully
utilised for the development of the Changyou platform during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

None of the Warrants were exercised during the year ended
31 December 2019. However, the Company is of the view that
CIH has demonstrated continuous support and motivation to
improve the Company’s financial performance, and it is the mutual
understanding between the Company and CIH that CIH will
exercise the subscription rights of the Warrants when the Company
is in need of financial resources to cope with the development and
expansion of the Digital Point business in the future.
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On 7 August 2018, the Company granted 72,000,000 share
options to Cheng Jerome, the chairman and an executive director
of the Company. For further details of the transaction, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 4 May 2018 and
the circular of the Company dated 15 June 2018. No option was
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2019.

On 3 January 2019, Fortunet Development Limited (the “Lender”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Asia Television
Holdings Limited (the “Borrower”), pursuant to which the Lender
conditionally agreed to provide to the Borrower a term loan of
HK$40,000,000 for the general working capital of the Borrower,
at an interest rate of 12% per annum for a term of 12 months
commencing from the date of the drawdown of the loan by the
Borrower (the “Loan”). The obligations of the Borrower under
the Loan Agreement are secured by a deed of guarantee by a
substantial shareholder of the Borrower (the “Guarantor”). For
further details of the Loan, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 3 January 2019. The Borrower has fully drawn
down the Loan in one single amount on 3 January 2019. Pursuant
to the Loan Agreement, the Borrower shall repay the principal
amount of the Loan in full together with the interest accrued
thereon on 3 January 2020. As at the date of this report, the
Loan is still outstanding and the Lender is in negotiations with the
Borrower and the Guarantor for the repayment of the Loan.
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On 31 January 2019, Pointsea Company Limited (“PCL”), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into subscription agreements with certain investors (collectively,
the “Investors”) in relation to the allotment and issue of shares in
PCL (the “Subscriptions”). The aggregate amount of proceeds
expected to be raised upon the completion of all the Subscriptions
amounts to RMB300 million, which is intended to be utilised for,
among other things, the further development and expansion of
the Digital Point business of the Group. The subscription price
payable for the Subscriptions was determined after arm’s length
negotiations between PCL and the Investors on the basis of the
pre-money valuation of US$500 million (approximately RMB3,424
million). The Subscriptions by two out of three Investors were
completed in March 2019, and gross proceeds of RMB200
million were received by the Group. The Subscription by the
remaining one Investor was terminated on 1 December 2019
as the conditions precedent set out in the relevant subscription
agreement have not been fully satisfied or waived. Further details in
relation to the Subscriptions have been disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 31 January 2019, 14 February 2019, 31 May
2019 and 1 December 2019. As at 31 December 2019, the actual use
of proceeds from the Subscriptions was as follows:
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was approximately RMB3 million as at 31 December 2019 (the
“Unutilised Proceeds”). The Group intends that the Unutilised
Proceeds will be used for the purpose as set out above for the
year ending 31 December 2020.
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As at 31 December 2019, net current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB81.4 million (as at 31 December
2018: approximately RMB80.1 million). As at 31 December 2019,
the current ratio (being total current assets divided by total current
liabilities) of the Group was approximately 1.45 (as at 31 December
2018: approximately 1.91).

As at 31 December 2019, total assets of the Group were
approximately RMB271.1 million (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately RMB177.4 million) and total liabilities were
approximately RMB181.9 million (31 December 2018:
approximately RMB87.9 million). The debt ratio as at 31 December
2019 (being total liabilities divided by total assets) was 0.67 as
compared to 0.50 as at 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had total borrowings (which
consisted of convertible bonds) of approximately RMB27.1 million
(as at 31 December 2018: approximately RMB44.4 million). The
gearing ratio as at 31 December 2019 (being total borrowing
divided by total equity) was approximately 0.30 (as at 31 December
2018: approximately 0.50).

Trade and other receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2019
were approximately RMB119.9 million (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately RMB67.1 million). A detailed breakdown of the
factors contributing to the trade and other receivables of the Group
is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements as disclosed in
this report.

The inventory balance of the Group as at 31 December 2019
was approximately RMB1.7 million (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately RMBO0.5 million). Although the Digital Point business
requires minimal inventory level, the increase in inventory level was
mainly due to the expansion of Digital Point business.

Trade and other payables of the Group as at 31 December 2019
were approximately RMB151.8 million (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately RMB43.5 million). A detailed breakdown of the
factors contributing to the trade and other payables of the Group is
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements as disclosed in this
report.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have pledged assets
(as at 31 December 2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (as at 31 December 2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no contracted capital
commitments which were not provided in the financial statements
(as at 31 December 2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 238 employees (as
at 31 December 2018: 303 employees). For the year ended 31
December 2019, total staff costs were approximately RMB101.8
million (2018: approximately RMB133.5 million).

During the year, the Group also provided internal training, external
training and correspondence courses for its staff in order to
promote self improvement and enhancement of skills relevant
to work. The remuneration of the directors of the Company was
determined with reference to their position, responsibilities and
experience and prevailing market conditions.

The Group believes that risk management practices are important
and uses its best effort to ensure they are sufficient to mitigate
risks present in our operations and financial position. The following
are the principal risks and uncertainties of our business:

o Our Digital Points business depends on our ability to
maintain our existing relationships and to develop new
relationships with business partners, cooperation platforms
and suppliers as part of the business ecosystem of the
Changyou platform. As such, the quality and diversity of
the goods and services available in the Changyou platform
depend on our relationship with and the performance of such
business partners, cooperation platforms and suppliers. The
Group has been continually looking for new opportunities to
diversify, improve and develop the Changyou platform, and
will continue to expand its connections and networks and to
increase our competitiveness in the market;
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o Our Digital Points business is subject to rapid market
changes and the potential development of new business
models and the entry of new and well-funded competitors.
Although the Group has been successful in capturing
market opportunities, however, in order to remain
competitive, we need to stay updated of the constantly
evolving industry trends and to enhance and improve the
responsiveness, functionality and features of our Digital
Point business. In order to attract and retain users and
maintain our competitiveness, the Company will continue to
invest significant resources in our research and development
to improve our existing systems, enhance our technology
infrastructure, and establish and enrich our big data and
blockchain technologies;

o As the Group is continuously expanding its businesses in
China, it is required to comply with the new applicable laws
and regulations that are specifically relevant to the Group’s
business, such as laws and regulations relating to online
commerce, interchange on digital points on the online
platform and distribution content, data protection, internet
information security, intellectual property, etc. There are
substantial uncertainties and restrictions with respect to the
interpretation and application of such laws and regulations
in China. The Company will continue to monitor and identify
changes in the relevant laws and regulations, so as to take
appropriate actions or measures to ensure the Company is
in compliance with such laws and regulations;

o The business of the Group is mainly located in China and
most of the transactions are denominated in Renminbi.
Most of the assets and liabilities of the Group are computed
in Renminbi. As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s
net foreign currency assets amounted to approximately
RMB64.5 million (as at 31 December 2018: net foreign
currency liabilities of approximately RMB37.2 million). During
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not utilise
any future contracts, currency borrowings and otherwise
to hedge against its foreign exchange risk. However, the
Group will continue to monitor the risk exposures and will
consider to hedge against material currency risk if required.

An analysis of the Group’s financial risk management (including
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate and currency risks) are
provided in note 26 to the financial statements as disclosed in this
report.

The Audit Committee has been established and is responsible for,
among other things, reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of
the systems of risk management and internal control of the Group
and reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements (where
applicable). For further details, please refer to the section headed
“Internal Control and Risk Management” on page 56 of this report.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save for the deemed disposal of equity interest in PCL by the
Company as disclosed on page 21 of this report, there were no
significant investments held nor material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2019 and there
was no plan authorised by the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) for other material investments or additions of capital
assets as at the date of this report.

PLEDGE OF SHARES BY CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

As at the date of this report, CIH pledged its 154,691,176 ordinary
shares in the Company (the “Charged Shares”) in favour of
Chance Talent to secure the obligations of the Company under the
Convertible Bonds. The Charged Shares represent approximately
8.54% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of this report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

PROSPECTS

In 2020, the Group will vigorously develop its Changyou Alliance
user base and acquire customers through targeted sales based on
its own channels and payment scenarios. It will focus on the value
of digital points by using games, payment and instalment products
to significantly stimulate the activity of the Changyou platform.
It will leverage big data and artificial intelligence to support the
merchants introduced into the Changyou platform with the S2B2C
model and eventually realise the growth of user size and platform
income.

The Group’s digital asset platform is available for the issuance,
circulation, payment and settlement of global assets able to be
tokenised and serves as the entry point for point realisation. Under
the intelligent business environment, the Group will make full use
of Changyou’s channels and customer resources to capture the
needs of users and attain new network collaboration. In 2020, the
Group will focus on the operation of the main platform network,
supported by two wings. The operation centre will be responsible
for games, digital points mall and marketing of equity products;
the financial division will be mainly responsible for payment
and instalment business; and the retail division will be mainly
responsible for the open platform for B2B services and internet
accelerator business.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group will vigorously develop business with offline QR code
point payment merchants, high-quality online cooperation platform
merchants and equity asset trading merchants, and further
optimise offline QR code payment merchant channel resources
and trading scenarios. The Group will strengthen cooperation with
high-quality online platforms and expand the range of exchange
for online equity products. The Group will also recommend more
reliable and intelligent financial products and convenient consumer
financial services and continue to provide companies with reliable,
safe and diversified payment products and channels.

The business circle segment will strive to expand the cooperation
with brand owners, quickly beef up mall product offering,
strengthen the unique characteristics of the product categories
and channels of the mall, increase consumer loyalty through
the points + sales pattern enhancement model, and continue to
enrich the digital point and cash consumption scenarios, so as to
increase the income of all consumption scenarios of the business
circle division in 2020.

The Group is committed to providing users with high-quality
products and will further enrich its product types through brand
tours/outlets. In 2020, the Group will continue to expand customer
base and strengthen the position of Changyou digital points in the
industry while continuing to generate income.
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The Group will put light interactive games into special channels
for shareholders, self-owned channels and related merchant
channels, which will be embedded with Changyou platform
product attributes in order to quickly and efficiently build up its
customer base. The Group will provide added benefits to frequent
purchases with low-unit price customers to retain users of the
entertainment division and stimulate users consumption. The
Group will further introduce diversified video, music and game
coupons, and give favour to users holding leftover points to create
an impression of discounts and encourage users to exchange their
digital points and guide them to target scenarios, while conducting
in-depth cooperation with target scenarios to obtain substantial
benefits including discounted purchase price and rebates through
efficient digital points referral, so as to increase the total income of
the three major consumption scenarios, being games, videos and
music coupons, of the entertainment business. The acquisition of
customers through applet/mini games is also an important goal of
the entertainment division.

The Changyou platform was officially launched in September 2017.
With less than three years’ development, it has received strong
recognition from users and the market. The Group will continue
to strive to build a digital-points ecosystem with the largest
global presence, create a future-oriented business and financial
platform and lead the business society to an age of intelligent
interconnection.
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The biographical details of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) and senior management of the Company during the
year under review, and as at the date of this report, are set out
below:

Mr. Cheng Jerome, aged 67, was appointed as the chairman
and the executive director on 25 March 2015. He joined Beijing
Century Fortunet Technology Co., Ltd (At Rt a2 SBMEIR AR A
7)) (“OPCo”) a subsidiary of the Company since 25 March 2015,
in December 2014 and previously served as the chief information
officer of OPCo till December 2015. Mr. Cheng graduated from
University Paris 7 with a DEA (D’Etudes approfondies) French
degree in information technology in 1986. He has working
experience of over 24 years in the IT industry, serving the AXA
Group and Oracle Corporation, both of which are among the
Top 500 worldwide fortune companies. From 1986 to 1994, Mr.
Cheng served the AXA Group successively as network engineer
and architect, head of network architecture team and head of
information technology system performance.

From 1998 to 2008, Mr. Cheng worked for BEA Systems, Inc., a
company specialized in enterprise infrastructure software products
which was acquired by Oracle Corporation in 2008, as principal
consulting engineer in BEA France, as managing consulting
engineer in BEA France, as pre-sales consulting manager in BEA
APAC region and as senior manager of BEA Technology Centre in
Beijing, China.

In June 2008, Mr. Cheng joined Oracle Systems Hong Kong
Limited as the senior manager of soft development and served
as Principal Solution Architect of Oracle Fusion Middleware world
wide architecture team from May 2010 to December 2014.

Mr. Yuan Weitao, aged 53, was appointed as the executive
director on 25 March 2015. He joined OPCo in September 2014
and currently serves as a director and executive vice president
of OPCo, and a director of Century East Network Limited
(“CEN”). CEN is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of CIH, being
a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Yuan graduated
from Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree in engineering
in 1989 and a master’s degree in engineering in 1992. He has
working experience of over 20 years in international trade,
telecommunications and media industries. Mr. Yuan joined China
National Electronics Import & Export Company (7 B & # i 0
#8712 8]), administered by the Ministry of Mechanical Electronic
Devices of the People’s Republic of China, after his graduation and
worked in its overseas subsidiary as a marketing manager in 1994.
Mr. Yuan joined CIH as vice president in 1999 and was responsible
for project development and external cooperation of CIH. Mr. Yuan
was a director of CIH from March 2003 to July 2019.
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Mr. Yuan has been the general manager of Beijing United Online
Technology Co. Ltd (b REt& FELEHE AR A F), a subsidiary of
China Mobile Communications Corporation (1B Ei@EEBE A
7)) in 2000; a vice-president and the representative of the China
office of CMBSat which was a subsidiary of Echostar, one of the
US leading satellite television operators, in 2006; and a vice general
manager of CSMM, a subsidiary of China Telecommunications
Corporation (R E{F5&E /A 7)), from 2010 to August 2014.

Mrs. Guo Yan, aged 47, was appointed as the non-executive
director on 25 March 2015. She has working experience of over
17 years in the IT industry. She has experience in the management
of IT sales and operation of over 15 years. She has led numerous
information/communications technology projects and has extensive
experience particularly in the new mobile internet business model.
Mrs. Guo graduated in testing technology and instruments (&
SBIR AT B 45 82) from Xi’dian University in 1994 and obtained a
postgraduate diploma in astronomical instruments and methods
(R f&23E1757K) from the Chinese Academy of Science in 1997.
From 1997 to 2014, Mrs. Guo worked for Huawei Technologies
Co., Ltd EEAET AR A7) as a senior client manager of eastern
China region, a director of mobile system division of China region,
a director of the IT purchasing division of the China region. Mrs.
Guo also participated in the market development of China Mobile
Communications Corporation (7 EI1% 8315 & B2 F) in Shanghai
as a team leader and acted as a project manager in the project
of the IT centralized purchasing bid of China United Network
Communications Corporations Limited (FF EE & B{Z AR A A)).
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Mr. Wong Chi Keung, aged 65, was appointed as the
independent non-executive director on 25 March 2015. Mr.
Wong obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from the University of Adelaide in Australia. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and CPA Australia
and an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators and the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. Mr. Wong is also a responsible officer for asset
management and advising on securities for CASDAQ International
Capital Market (HK) Company Limited under the SFO. Mr. Wong
has over 35 years of experience in finance, accounting and
management. Mr. Wong was previously an executive director, the
deputy general manager, group financial controller and company
secretary of Guangzhou Investment Company Limited (now known
as Yuexiu Property Company Limited), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 123) for over ten
years. He is also an independent non-executive director and a
member of the audit committee of Asia Orient Holdings Limited
(stock code: 214), Asia Standard International Group Limited
(stock code: 129), Century City International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 355), China Ting Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3398), Golden Eagle Retail Group Limited (stock code:
3308), Paliburg Holdings Limited (stock code: 617), Regal Hotels
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 78), TPV Technology
Limited (stock code: 903), Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited (stock
code: 332) and Zhuguang Holdings Group Company Limited
(stock code: 1176), all of which are companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wong was also previously an independent non-
executive director of PacMos Technologies Holdings Limited (now
known as PacRay International Holdings Limited) (stock code:
1010), ENM Holdings Limited (stock code: 128), Heng Xin China
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8046, and subsequently delisted
on 2 July 2019) and China Shanshui Cement Group Limited
(stock code: 691). He was also an independent non-executive
director and a member of the audit committee of Nickel Resources
International Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as China
Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited) (stock code: 2889)
(“NRI Holdings”) until 14 February 2020, being the date of delisting
of NRI Holdings.
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Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan, aged 56, was appointed as the
independent non-executive director on 25 March 2015. He is a
member of the audit committee and the nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Chan is a qualified solicitor admitted in England
and Wales in October 1991 and in Hong Kong in February 1992. Mr.
Chan practiced corporate and commercial law for more than two
decades. He is presently the senior general counsel of Imperial Pacific
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code:1076), which owns an exclusive
casino gaming license in Saipan, Commonwealth of Northern
Mariana Islands. He is an independent non-executive director and a
member of each of the audit committee, the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of Cornerstone Financial Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8112). He was an independent non-
executive director, chairman of the remuneration committee and a
member of each of the audit committee and nomination committee
of L&A International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8195) from 25 September 2014 to 19 October 2015 and was
also an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee of
BOSA Technology Holdings Limited, a company listed on Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8140) from
19 June 2018 to 29 February 2020. Previously, Mr. Chan was the
Vice President, Legal of NagaCorp Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3918), head
of legal services of The Hong Kong Jockey Club, the Greater China
Legal Counsel for Sun Microsystems and the vice president of Legal
Affairs at Celestial Pictures Limited, a subsidiary of Astro All Asia
Networks Plc., a Malaysian company. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor
of science degree in civil engineering from the Aston University of
Birmingham, England and a bachelor of laws degree in China Law
from the China University of Political Science and Law in Beijing, the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Chan is a registered civil celebrant in
Hong Kong and served as a board director (and former chairman) of
Theatre Space Foundation Limited, a theatrical drama performance
charitable institution. He is a director of the Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Chamber of Commerce Limited; and a council member of the China
Overseas Friendship Association, Beijing, China (F1 2§ 9Nz & 18

Sl

Mr. Liu Jialin, aged 57, was appointed as the independent
non-executive director of the Company on 1 April 2017. Mr. Liu
also serves as the independent non-executive director of Far
East Horizon Limited (stock code: 3360) and was previously the
independent non-executive director of China Merchants Securities
Co., Ltd (stock code: 6099). Mr. Liu has been the managing
director of Cinda International Asset Management Limited since
February 2011. From 1992 to 2007, Mr. Liu worked for Morgan
Stanley group of companies and once served as a member of the
Management Committee and Asia Executive Committee as well as
a Managing Director in the Fixed Income Division in Hong Kong.
Mr. Liu has over 20 years of experience in finance and securities
industry. Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree in science majoring
in physics from Peking University and a master’s degree in science
majoring in physics from Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
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Mr. Kwok Kin Kwong, Gary, aged 43, is the chief financial
officer of the Company. Mr. Kwok graduated from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong, with a bachelor degree
majoring in business administration (Professional Accountancy) in
May 1998. He was accredited as a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in February 2005. He
is an independent non-executive director, the chairman of audit
committee and a member of risk control committee of Sichuan
Energy Investment Development Co., Ltd (stock code: 1713). He
has over 20 years’ experience in the financial services industry in
Hong Kong and China, with extensive knowledge and experience
in auditing, asset management, corporate finance and accounting.
Prior to joining the Group, he was the chief financial officer in Yin
Yi Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited from September 2018 to January
2020 and was the joint company secretary of DaFa Properties
Group Limited (stock code: 6111) from May 2019 to January
2020.

Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Billy, aged 46, is the financial controller,
company secretary, and one of the authorised representatives of
the Company. He graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University
with an Honours Degree with major in Accounting. He is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
He is an independent non-executive director, the chairman of
the audit committee and a member of each of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of Boill Healthcare
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1246). Mr. Chan has over 20 years’
experience in auditing, accounting and financial management.
He had worked in South China Media Group for 15 years from
December 1999 to May 2015 and his latest position was the
deputy financial controller. He had worked in South China Land
Limited (formerly named as Capital Publications Limited, stock
code: 8155) from January 2004 to June 2008 as the qualified
accountant and company secretary.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 May
2008 under The Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands (“Companies
Law”) with limited liability. The shares of the Company were listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 September 2010.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
formed a series of joint ventures with the respective subsidiaries
of CCB International, UnionPay Merchant, China Mobile, Bank
of China and China Eastern Airlines, the joint venture companies
which now form part of the Group. For further details of the
formation of the joint ventures, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 22 June 2016, 25 July 2016, 30 August
2016, 13 September 2016, 29 November 2016, 7 December 2016
and 30 June 2017, respectively.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to
the financial statements.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in the financial statements on pages 67 to 68. The
Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out on pages 67 to 185.

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2019 are set out on page 72.

Changes in share capital of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2019 are set out in note 25(c) to the financial
statements.
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There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares to existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by all shareholders
of the Company on 28 June 2010, the Company approved and
adopted a share option scheme for the purpose of enabling the
Group to grant options to selected participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group (the “Share Option
Scheme”).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, 75,000,000 share
options were lapsed under the Share Option Scheme and no share
options were granted, exercised or cancelled. As at 31 December
2019, the number of outstanding share options is 72,000,000.

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares of the
Company available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
181,095,327 shares of the Company, which represented 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue. The Share Option Scheme
became effective on 24 September 2010 and the options issued
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme will expire no later than 10
years from the date of grant of the option. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Board may grant options to any employees, directors,
advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and such
other persons who in the sole opinion of the Board will contribute
or have contributed to the Company or any of its subsidiaries to
subscribe shares of the Company.

For any options granted to Directors, chief executives or
substantial shareholders of the Company, options to be granted
shall be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the
proposed grantee of options). The number of shares issued and
to be issued in respect of options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
total shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the shareholders.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option is HK$1.00,
which will be payable on or before a prescribed acceptance date.
In relation to any options granted under the Share Option Scheme,
the exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not
be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
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The Share Option Scheme does not contain any minimum period(s)
for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
However, at the time of granting of the options, the Board may
specify any such minimum period(s).

Unless otherwise terminated by the Board or the shareholders in a
general meeting in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years from the date on which it became unconditional which
was 24 September 2010, after which no further options will be
granted or offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give
effect to the exercise of any subsisting options granted prior to the
expiry of the 10-year period or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme. The
remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately 0.5
year.

As at 31 December 2019, options to subscribe for 72,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company were outstanding, details of which
are set out below and in the note 23 to the financial statements:

MRt AT BN mE D BB A P AT R AT AR B M E A B HIR -
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BIFREEGIMRAEBRAE ERBEEA INIERSTR
1 BRIZASNERHATF  ARABRETN T —FTFN
AZt+mARHE  ZMMERETEBERORIE2BRE -
ERETFHERATRHOEADRE RO BBAESATE - 3%
IRBFEBAER B IE AT RER B RE - B Bl R SUs AE
BETREN - BRI T AR R0.55F -

RIZ-AF+-A=+—0  AlREALQ7F72,000,0008 & i
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Exercised
Outstanding Granted during Lapsed during during the year Outstanding
as at theyearended the year ended ended as at
1January 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Name 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019
REZE REZE REZE
RZB-NEF —E-NEF —E-NEF ZE-RE  RIBE-hEF
—-A—-B +=ZA=t+-H +=ZHA=+—-H +=ZA=+—-H +=ZA=+-H
e KTE  LFEERH EFERY  LFEREGTE RITE
Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng Jeromest 4 87,000,000 - 15,000,000 - 72,000,000
Mr. Yuan Weitao REBTAE 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 - -
Mrs. Guo Yan Ly 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 - -
Others HAh, 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 - -
Total mEr 147,000,000 - 75,000,000 - 72,000,000
ERZEEEERAT T-NFFEERS



During the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers comprised
approximately 26.4% of the Group’s total sales and the sales
attributable to the Group’s largest customer were approximately
8.8% of the Group’s total sales. During the year ended 31
December 2019, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 63.7% of
the Group’s cost of sales and the purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier were approximately 15.3% of the Group’s
cost of sales.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their
associates or substantial shareholders (which own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest in the
share capital of any of the five largest customers and suppliers of
the Group.

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract
and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture.
The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil its immediate
and long-term goals. To maintain its market competitiveness
within the industry, the Group aims at delivering constantly high
standards and high quality products and services to its customers.
During the year under review, there was no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or customers.

The Group did not make any charitable and other donations during
the year under review (2018: RMB Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held property, plant and
equipment of approximately RMB8.9 million. Details of the
movements are set out in note 12 to the financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the shares of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and as at the date of
this report, the Board comprised the following directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Jerome (Chairman)
Mr. Yuan Weitao

Non-Executive Director

Mrs. Guo Yan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan

Mr. Liu Jialin

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, each of Mr. Cheng
Jerome and Mr. Yuan Weitao will retire from the office of Director

by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Directors’ Report

BE - HEREEAQRRH

AARSEEAHBARBENEE - AF+-A=1+—H
IFFERES - HESERARBEARD -
=

RBE-ZT-NF+ A=+t -HLFERRARERY  EF
BRETIES:

HITES

Cheng Jerome %t 4 (£ /&)
REBEE

FHITES

P

BYFHITES

W Votao

BRAEGR A

Rz &k

IRFRAHEIZE5841% - Cheng JeromeZt & R REFL AT B BERH

CHORRBFAS T HRERTIES  cERITRE2NEEE
£ -

BESEEEERAT T AEEEHE

37



38

Directors’ Report
EERHE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from 25 March 2018, and each of
the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 25 March 2018, except that Mr. Liu Jialin
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 1 April 2017.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
any member of the Group which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Based
on the contents of such confirmation, the Company considers that
all three independent non-executive Directors are independent and
that they have met the specific independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) considers and recommends to the Board the
remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the
Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular
monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that the
levels of their remuneration and compensation are appropriate.
Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 28 to 32 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below and the section headed “Material Related
Party Transactions” in note 29 to the financial statements, there
was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to and in which a Director or an entity
connected with such Director is or was materially interested in,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the financial
year ended 31 December 2019 or at any time during the financial
year ended 31 December 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors held any interests in any competing business
against the Company or any of its jointly controlled entities and
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of
this report, there were no permitted indemnity provisions in force
for the benefit of any Director (whether made by the Company
or otherwise) or any director of an associated company of the
Company (if made by the Company).

The Company has arranged for appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions taken against its directors arising out of corporate activities.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2019 are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”))
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”), to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

RIZE-NF+ZA=+—08 ARFEFIHZSTHRAELRK
EZENBBATRARBREBEEE (E& R BB EDIEE71
SRS MHEED ((RERAEMRS ) EXVEL B - K
DREHTRBRIEE LI B RPIEXVELET 2870 BIAE A
AR R R TR AR AR (BRERIEE S LB RPN E R
BSORE RSB REANER AR - SRIEES LB EIE
BE2F/AREN LGP B R MR AR - IRBE LT EHITA
BERETEFRGNRETRI([BESFRA ) AFMEANDE IR
PrEOREz SR - AT

Number of
underlying Approximate
Shares percentage of
comprised in  Shares in issue
Name of Director options (note 2) Notes
HEBRITRAN
BREEERER BHAES
BEEHE HAEBA R 2 B B (B EE2) I
Mr. Cheng Jerome 72,000,000 3.98% 1
Cheng Jeromest &
Notes: Kt -
1. This represents the interest in the underlying Shares of the Share Option 1. EEARBER-Z—Z2E A+ N\ BRANBRETER -2 —N\F

Scheme adopted on 28 June 2010 to be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of the options granted on 4 May 2018.

2. The approximate percentage is based on a total of 1,810,953,272 issued
Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2019.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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As at 31 December 2019, to the best of the Director’s knowledge,
the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executives
of the Company) had or deemed or taken to have interests and
short positions of 5% or more in the shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed under provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

RZZE-NEFF+ZA=+—H BESHRH  REARFRKRAGF
BB ERIEHBIREE S KRB KROIEXVEE2 X359 H 2 5
ATHBIRIEES XPEEHIE6HATE 2 B fMAKiEs
5%k A L EZRABMAL (TRIEARFESERERTTERAR)
T

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Name of substantial shareholder Nature of Interest Interest in Shares (note 8) Notes
BORER DL
FTERRER ERMtE Rz (H4518) By =
Century Investment (Holding) Beneficial interest 896,885,818 (L) 49.53% 1
Limited (“CIH”) 220,000,000 (S) 12.15%
EnfEm
Greater Bay Area Homeland Interest of controlled corporations 254,465,000 (L) 14.05% 2
Investments Limited
EREAARERERRAR S NE L
Starr International Foundation Interest of controlled corporations 224,710,691 (L) 12.41% 3
R AR
Central Huijin Investment Limited Interest of controlled corporations 154,691,176 (L) 8.54% 4
PRESKRERREEAA S NE L
Beijing Enterprises Real Estate Beneficial interest 151,515,000 (L) 8.37% 5
(HK) Limited
LB X (BB BRAT ey
Yang Liu Interest of controlled corporations 148,400,000 (L) 8.19% 6
ElPS R AE RS
Taiping Trustees Limited Beneficial interest 138,888,000 (L) 7.67% 7
ANEEFRAERAA BEmiEm
L = Long position 4f7/&; S = Short position /% &
Notes: HfaE -
1. CIH is wholly owned by Ms. Pun Tang. CIH currently holds 598,885,818 1. CIHLFPun TangZ+2 & HH ° CIHIRE R A A2 5598,885,818/% I3

ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”) (being approximately
33.07% of the total shareholding of the Company), and will hold a further
298,000,000 Shares upon the exercise of the Warrants in full. On 18
April 2019, a subscription agreement (“Subscription Agreement”)
was entered into between CIH and Mega Prime Development Limited
(“Mega Prime”), pursuant to which CIH issued exchangeable bonds
(“Exchangeable Bonds”) to Mega Prime, which are exchangeable
into 220,000,000 Shares. Such underlying Shares are currently owned
by CIH. Subsequently, on 30 July 2019, a novation deed (“Novation
Deed”) was entered into between Mega Prime as outgoing party, Poly
Platinum Enterprises Ltd (“Poly Platinum”) as incoming party and CIH
as continuing party, pursuant to which all rights, obligations and liabilities
of Mega Prime under the Subscription Agreement was novated to Poly
Platinum.

BERAD (TR ]) (5N B 4ARHEXI33.07 %) » Ib BLTEFT i 2 SRaR Rk HE %
1% ¥ B —F155298,000,0000% 8% - R=ZF—NFMNA+NE * CH
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2. As at 31 December 2019, Poly Platinum currently holds 34,465,000 2. RZZFE—hh&F+=ZA=+—H " Poly PlatinumBAEF B AR A

Shares and is the beneficial owner of the Exchangeable Bonds, which 34,465,000 RO R AFIXBRELFNETHEEA  ZFAEHKRE
are exchangeable into 220,000,000 Shares. Poly Platinum is wholly % 0] {32 K220,000,0008% 8% % ° Poly Platinumfi Greater Bay Area
owned by Greater Bay Area Homeland Development Fund LP. Greater Homeland Development Fund LPZ & 4 ° Greater Bay Area Homeland
Bay Area Homeland Development Fund (GP) Limited (‘GBAHD GP”) Development Fund (GP) Limited ((GBAHD GP]) sZGreater Bay Area
is the general partner of Greater Bay Area Homeland Development Homeland Development Fund LPE)E#E & Z A ° Greater Bay Area
Fund LP. Greater Bay Area Development Fund Management Limited Development Fund Management Limited (fGBAD Fund Management])
(“GBAD Fund Management’) is the fund manager of Greater Bay Area /A Greater Bay Area Homeland Development Fund (GP) Limited #)34 4¢
Homeland Development Fund (GP) Limited. Both GBAHD GP and GBAD ## o GBAHD GPX&GBAD Fund ManagementJ i K& B XERERE R
Fund Management are wholly owned by Greater Bay Area Homeland RABZEHE °

Investments Limited.

3. Starr Investments Cayman I, Inc. and Starr Investments Cayman V, Inc. 3. Starr Investments Cayman I, Inc. &z Starr Investments Cayman V, Inc. &
are the beneficial owners of Shares as to 6.34% and 6.07% respectively. D RIHEE6.34% K 6.07% i I Ew= A A  Starr Investments Cayman
Starr Investments Cayman I, Inc. is wholly owned by Starr International Il, Inc.fStarr International Cayman, Inc. 24 #7% - Starr International
Cayman, Inc., which is in turn wholly owned by Starr Insurance and Cayman, Inc.fiStarr Insurance and Reinsurance Limited® & ##H °
Reinsurance Limited. Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Limited and Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Limited &z Starr Investments Cayman
Starr Investments Cayman V, Inc. are wholly owned subsidiaries of V, Inc.AStarr International Investments Limited®) % & {82 =] - Starr
Starr International Investments Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned International Investments Limited i Starr International Company Inc. 2 &
by Starr International Company Inc. Starr International Company Inc. # ° Starr International Company Inc.fiStarr International AGZ & 4 +
is wholly owned by Starr International AG, which is wholly-owned by Starr International AGE Starr International Foundation (R ¥ A7 824 &
Starr International Foundation, a charitable foundation established in ES)2EHE -

Switzerland.

4, A charge over the 154,691,176 Shares held by CIH had been created 4. $CIHFF A 154,691,176/ M {7 #F Hi LAChance Talent Management
in favour of Chance Talent Management Limited. Chance Talent Limited &%z A K352  Chance Talent Management Limited 1 CCBI
Management Limited is wholly owned by CCBI Investments Limited, Investments LimitedZ & # A + CCBI Investments Limited F 32 R B (32
which is in turn wholly owned by CCB International (Holdings) Limited. R)BRABIZERE - BIREE(ER) BRATHETSRIERER
CCB International (Holdings) Limited is wholly owned by CCB Financial NEEEHRR  ETERERERARBEBTEREEIZERERATE
Holdings Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by CCB International BHE - BTEHBEEEERERARAPBEEZRITRNHERIBZE
Group Holdings Limited. CCB International Group Holdings Limited is A RERZIRITRHDERAGDAPRESKREEFRETAAHEE
wholly owned by China Construction Bank Corporation, which is owned as 57.11% °

to 57.11% by Central Huijin Investment Limited.

5. Beijing Enterprises Real Estate (HK) Limited is wholly owned byt R 4k#2% 5. tEBE (BB BRAFAILRIEETELXERETAFEZERAE @ tR
EEBMREFAF], which is in turn wholly owned by Beijing Enterprises IR EXEREAARBILREREBERARZERS - LRIERE
Group Company Limited. Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited is EERARBIIATARBNBEEEELEEEEZEGRERE -

wholly owned by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the People’s Government of Beijing Municipality.

6. Riverwood Asset Management (Cayman) Limited, Atlantis Investment 6. Riverwood Asset Management (Cayman) Limited + Atlantis Investment
Management (Ireland) Limited and Atlantis Investment Management Management (Ireland) Limited & FE R 15 & B2 (B74) AR AR ARMHHE
(Hong Kong) Limited are the beneficial owners of Shares. Riverwood Z5HEA A ° Riverwood Asset Management (Cayman) Limited i 215 & &
Asset Management (Cayman) Limited is wholly owned by Yang Liu. 74 ° Atlantis Investment Management (Ireland) Limited & 78 R 1% & & 12
Atlantis Investment Management (Ireland) Limited and Atlantis Investment (&8) BBR A M Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited & & %4 - MAtlantis
Management (Hong Kong) Limited are wholly owned by Atlantis Capital Capital Holdings Limited i 2| R 2 & A -
Holdings Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Yang Liu.

7. Taiping Trustees Limited is the beneficial owner of Shares. The ultimate 7. AP EXERDABRONERZERA - KFEETHERD AN REIER
controlling shareholder of Taiping Trustees Limited is China Taiping REAPEAFREEEGRETAR © LR EBEBRHEELES

Insurance Group Limited, which is ultimately controlled by the State
Council of the PRC.

8. The approximate percentage is based on a total of 1,810,953,272 issued 8. OB DERARRARZZZTE-ILFEF+ZA=+—HE&H
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2019. 1,810,953,272fR B /TR NEHE ©

Based on information available to the Company and within the RIBRARIAIESHERIEESHN  REE-Z—hF+=A
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained sufficient =T+ —HIFE  RARBKRERTEHNARTRE -
public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

42 Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited  Annual Report 2019



The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the
employer and employee are required to make contributions of 5%
of the employees’ relevant income to the scheme, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions made to
the scheme are vested immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in China participate in the
retirement schemes operated by the local authorities. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their salaries to these schemes to pay the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group in respect to these schemes is the
required contributions under the schemes. For the year ended
31 December 2019, the Group’s total contributions to the
retirement schemes charged in the income statement amounted
to approximately RMB9.4 million (2018: approximately RMB12.2
million). Details of the Group’s retirement scheme and the basis of
calculation are set out in note 7(b) to the financial statements.

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a view to
enhancing investor confidence and the Company’s accountability
and transparency. The Company therefore strives to attain and
maintain effective corporate governance practices and procedures.
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019 and save as
disclosed in this report, the Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Group’s principal corporate
governance practices are set out on pages 48 to 58 of this report.

On 26 March 2018, the Company and CIH, the substantial
shareholder of the Company, entered into a warrant subscription
agreement, pursuant to which the Company shall issue,
298,000,000 Warrants to CIH at the subscription price of HK$0.01
per Warrant. For further details of the transaction, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 26 March 2018 and 27
June 2018, respectively, and the circular of the Company dated
5 July 2018. The Warrants were issued on 18 September 2018.
The net proceeds from the issue of Warrants (after deduction
of relevant expenses) of approximately HK$1,480,000 was fully
utilised for the development of the Changyou platform during
the year ended 31 December 2018. None of the Warrants were
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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On 21 June 2018, the Company (as lender) and PCL (an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) (as borrower)
entered into a facility agreement, pursuant to which the Company
conditionally agreed to grant the loan facility of up to HK$100
million to PCL for the purpose of development the Digital Point
business and for capital expenditure and general working capital
of PCL and its subsidiaries. For further details of the transaction,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 21 June
2018. As at 31 December 2018, facility was fully drawn down by
PCL. The loan facility of HK$100 million was fully repaid by PCL in
June 2019.

Details of the Group’s continuing connected transaction are as
follows:

On 3 September 2019, the Company (as lender) and PCL (as
borrower) entered into a facility agreement in relation to a revolving
loan facility to PCL, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Facility Agreement”). Major terms of the Facility
Agreement are set out below:

Amount of revolving : Up to HK$100 million
loan facility

Purpose of revolving
loan facility

. For developing the digital point business
of PCL’s group of companies and for
capital expenditure and general working
capital of PCL’s group of companies.

Facility period . The 3-year period from 31 October
2019 (the date on which the Company is
satisfied that all the conditions precedent
of the facility agreement have been fulfilled
or specifically waived in writing by the
Company).

Security . None

Interest . PCL shall pay interest on the outstanding
principal amount of each loan at the rate
of 6.5% per annum.

Repayment date . The date falling on the expiry of the facility
period, or such later date as may be
agreed between PCL and the Company in
writing, being the date for the repayment
of all loan(s) (together with all interest
accrued thereon) in full.

Voluntary
prepayment

. PCL may, at any time after a loan
has been advanced and prior to the
repayment date, prepay such loan in
whole or in part (together with all interest
accrued thereon), without any penalty.
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Reborrowing PCL may reborrow any part of the
revolving loan facility which has been
prepaid or repaid in accordance with the
terms of the facility agreement, provided
that (i) no event of default as set out in
the facility agreement has occurred; and
(i) the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of all loan(s) shall not exceed
HK$100 million at any time during the
facility period.

As at 31 December 2019, PCL is owned as to 47.24% by Pointsea
Holdings Company Limited (“Pointsea Holdings”), 15.75% by
Joy Empire Holdings Ltd, 15.75% by Extra Step Investments
Limited, 15.75% by China Eastern Airlines E-Commerce Co., Ltd,
2.76% by Zhongjin Qizhi (Shanghai) Equity Investment Centre
(Limited Partnership)* (F&EE (&) REKREHL(BRER)),
and 2.76% by Senran Investment HK Company Limited. Pointsea
Holdings is owned as to 80% by Treasure Ease Holdings Limited
(“Treasure Ease”) and as to 20% by Easylink Payment Network
(Hong Kong) Company Limited. Treasure Ease is owned as to
50.1% by the Company, 30% by Fin-Tech Company Limited (“Fin-
Tech”) and 19.9% by Chance Talent Management Limited. The
Board considers that PCL is a subsidiary of the Company through
its power to control the board of directors of PCL. CIH, being a
substantial shareholder of the Company, holds the entire issued
share capital of Fin-Tech. PCL is therefore a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.16 of the Listing Rules and the grant
of the revolving loan facility constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

For further details of the transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 3 September 2019 and the
circular of the Company dated 15 October 2019.

The proposed annual cap in respect of the revolving loan facility
under the Facility Agreement for each financial year of the
Company shall not exceed HK$100 million.

As at 31 December 2019, the outstanding principal amount of the
revolving loan is HK$20,000,000 which is the highest outstanding
principal amount of the revolving loan during the year ended 31
December 2019.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the continuing connected transaction set out above
has been entered into:

i

) not in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement, and
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed continuing connected
transaction set out above and confirmed in writing to the Board
that they:

(i) have received the approval of the Board;

(ii) have been entered into in accordance with the terms of the
Facility Agreement; and

(i)  have not exceeded the relevant cap amounts of the
transaction for the year ended 31 December 2019.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.

None of the related party transactions set out in the section
headed “Material Related Party Transactions” in note 29 to
the financial statements constitutes connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company which is
required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors
confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 29 May 2020 to Wednesday, 3 June 2020, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to determine who are entitled to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Wednesday, 3 June 2020, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 28 May 2020.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by KPMG who shall retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint KPMG as auditor of the
Company.

By order of the Board

Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited
Cheng Jerome

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2020

AR BE T EFRA-+tIABEHRE_T_ZTF A
—H(EH=) (BREEEMR) BEIRREBEER - LM
TIERHBE - BEETRREELABEELELAR ﬂkw—x:x
FRAZHBERDETZEEREAFAGINE HEE
ﬁ%@@ﬁx#@ﬂﬁ%k?ﬁ%%ﬁ?ﬂﬁ_v_Yiﬂﬂ
—+N\BHEHD) TFEUE=+oREARABEBRNOBEER
BEEBRRABLHELAR AR - it AEB2FAER1835H A
FOTI1712-1716E ©

BEZ-NF+ A=+ —HILFENGREVBRREHAE

CHMEERSTMELES - 2R EHMEEHEARAR

FEEBRRBEFAS LER - ARRBNEEREBFEAE LR
E-BREARUBEZIESRETNSEMAEADRNKE

Bl o

EEEEW

BERSEHEEERAT

E

Cheng Jerome

a8 —E-ZF=-A=1+—H

ENZIHEEERAIET —TNAFFERE






CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a view to
being a transparent and responsible organisation which is open
and accountable to the Company’s shareholders. The Board
strives to adhere to the principles of corporate governance and has
adopted sound corporate governance practices to meet the legal
and commercial standards, focusing on areas such as internal
control, fair disclosure and accountability to all shareholders to
ensure the transparency and accountability of all operations of
the Company. The Company believes that effective corporate
governance is an essential factor to create more value for its
shareholders. The Board will continue to review and improve the
corporate governance practices of the Group from time to time
to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board in order to
optimise return for shareholders.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company had complied
with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

THE BOARD

The Board consists of six Directors, two of whom are executive
Directors, one of whom is a non-executive Director and three of
whom are independent non-executive Directors. The functions and
duties conferred on the Board include convening shareholders’
meetings and reporting on the work of the Board to the
shareholders at shareholders’ meetings as may be required by
applicable laws, implementing resolutions passed at shareholders’
meetings, determining the Company’s business plans and
investment plans, formulating the Company’s annual budget and
final accounts, formulating the Company’s proposals for dividend
and bonus distributions as well as exercising other powers,
functions and duties as conferred on it by the Articles and applicable
laws. The management team is delegated with the authorities
and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management
and operations of the Group. The Board meets regularly to review
the financial and operating performance of the Company, and
considers and approves the overall strategies and policies of the
Company. The composition of the Board is well balanced with the
directors having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate
and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business of the Group. The executive Directors, non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors bring a variety
of experience and expertise to the Company.
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The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December
2019 and up to the date of this report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Jerome (Chairman)
Mr. Yuan Weitao

Non-Executive Director
Mrs. Guo Yan
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Keung
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan
Mr. Liu Jialin

The biographical details of the current Board members are set out
under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 28 to 31 of this report. The list of directors (by category)
is also disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The
independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all
corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise, and the independent non-
executive directors represented over one-third of the Board.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the
contents of such confirmation, the Company considers that all
three independent non-executive Directors are independent and
that they have met the specific independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All Directors have separate and independent access to the
Company’s management team to fulfill their duties and, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense. All
Directors also have access to the company secretary of the
Company (“Company Secretary”) who is responsible for ensuring
that the Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations,
are followed. An agenda and accompanying Board/committee
papers are distributed to the Directors/Board committee members
with reasonable notices in advance of the meetings. Minutes
of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees, which
record in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or
dissenting views expressed, are kept by the Company Secretary
and are open for inspection by Directors.
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The Company has arranged for appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions taken against its directors arising out of corporate activities.

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company, and considers and approves the
overall strategies and policies of the Company.

There is no other relationship between members of the Board and
the Chairman.

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Director
has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from 25 March 2018, and each of
the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company and is appointed for a term of
three years commencing from 25 March 2018, except that Mr.
Liu Jialin entered into a service agreement with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from 1 April 2017.

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every
three years. In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, each of
Mr. Cheng Jerome and Mr. Yuan Weitao will retire from the office
of Director by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Prior to 16 June 2015, the roles and duties of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company were carried out by
different individuals and have been clearly defined in writing. Mr.
Cheng Jerome has been the Chairman of the Board since 25
March 2015 and Mr. Lai Fengcai had been the Chief Executive
Officer until his resignation on 16 June 2015. The positions of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer had been held by separate
persons in order to preserve independence and a balance of views
and judgement. With the support of the management team, the
Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner and
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings. The Chief
Executive Officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies and
strategies approved and delegated by the Board and is in charge
of the Company’s day-to-day management and operations. The
Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for developing strategic
plans and formulating the organisational structure, control systems
and internal procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.

Since the resignation of Mr. Lai Fengcai as Chief Executive Officer
on 16 June 2015, the position of Chief Executive Officer has not
been filled up. The Company is in the process of identifying a
suitable candidate to assume the role as Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

The Directors keep abreast of the responsibilities as a director
of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company. Every newly appointed Director
will receive a formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

The Directors also participated in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. They were involved in relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses. All Directors also read
materials in relation to regular update to statutory requirements,
Listing Rules and other relevant topics related to a listed company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of sound corporate governance practices,
the Board has established the following Board committees to
oversee the particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. Each of these
committees comprises independent non-executive Directors who
are being invited to join as members.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
was established on 24 September 2010 in compliance with
Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and monitor the
Company’s financial reporting and internal control principles of
the Company and to provide advice and comments to the Board.
The members meet regularly with the external auditors and the
Company’s management team for the review, supervision and
discussion of the Company’s financial reporting and internal
control procedures and ensure that management has discharged
its duty to have an effective internal control and risk management
system. During the year 2019, the Audit Committee consists of
three members, namely Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Liu Jialin and
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan, of whom were all independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Wong Chi Keung, who has appropriate
professional qualifications and experience in accounting matters,
was appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year under
review to review the financial results of the Group and significant
issues on the financial reporting and compliance procedures,
internal control and risk management systems.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019,
including the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, the selection and appointment of the external auditors and
the effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal
control of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

During the year under review, the Audit Committee was also
responsible for determining the policy for the corporate governance
of the Company performing the corporate governance duties as
below:

° to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and management
team;

o to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of
risk management and internal control of the Group;

o to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements (where
applicable);

. to develop, review and monitor the relevant code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Group; and

o to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure requirements in the Corporate Governance
Report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 24 September
2010 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. During the year 2019, the Remuneration Committee
was chaired by Mr. Liu Jialin with two Directors, namely Mr.
Cheng Jerome and Mr. Wong Chi Keung, as members. The
principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
formulate and recommend remuneration policy to the Board,
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and management team’s
remunerations, approve and review management’s proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives and
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors. The Board expects the Remuneration
Committee to exercise independent judgment and ensure that
executive Directors do not participate in the determination of their
own remunerations.

The Remuneration Committee held one committee meeting during
the year under review to review and made recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the Company
and remuneration packages of Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 24 September 2010. During the
year 2019, the chairman was Mr. Cheng Jerome, an executive
Director, with two Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr.
Chan Chi Keung, Alan, as members. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for determining the policy for the nomination of
Directors, reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, making recommendation to the Board on selection of
candidates for directorships, appointment and reappointment of
Directors and Board succession and assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors.

The Company adopts the board diversity policy and recognises
board diversity as the key element for the achievement of its
strategic goals and sustainable development. In considering the
composition and diversity of the Board, the Company takes into
account a number of factors from various aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All decisions regarding appointment of members of the
Board will be based on the candidates’ meritocracy having regard
to a set of objective standards that take into account the benefits
of board diversity.

Selection of candidates will be based on a set of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be made with
reference to the candidates’ merits and contributions to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
under review to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE

The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings
of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and the general meeting of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below:
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Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual Extraordinary
Board Committee Committee Committee General Ordinary
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
34+ ENZEE yHzeg REZEE  RREFAE  RREAIAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng JeromeZt & 4/4 N/A TER 11 1 11 1
Mr. Yuan Weitao REERE 4/4 N/A TER N/ANER N/A TER il 11
Non-executive Director FHTEE
Mrs. Guo Yan PRLL 4/4 N/A TER N/ANER N/ATER o 0/
Independent non-executive Directors B 7 H3i77EE
Mr. Wong Chi Keung B BRE 4/4 2/2 1 1A 1 17
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan RERLA 4/4 2/2 N/A TiER 17 1 17
Mr. Liu Jidin UmEnt 44 22 111 NA T o 0
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CODE PROVISIONS IN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Deviation with Code Provision

Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that independent
non-executive directors and non-executive directors should
generally attend general meetings of the Company. Mrs. Guo
Yan and Mr. Liu Jialin were not able to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2019 due to their other
engagement in other commitments. Mrs. Guo Yan and Mr. Liu
Jialin were not able to attend the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 31 October 2019 due to their other
engagement in other commitments.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors,
and each Director has declared and confirmed that, during the
year ended 31 December 2019, they were in compliance with the
Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Billy, the Company Secretary, is a full time
employee of the Group and has the knowledge of the Company’s
day-to-day affairs. He also serves as the secretary of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee as organised by the board from time to time. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company Secretary
complied with the relevant professional training requirement under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The biographical details of the
Company Secretary is set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” on page 32 in this report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements for the financial year ended 31
December 2019 which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date and of the
Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended and are
properly prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with
the applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.
The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration paid
or payable to the Group’s auditors, KPMG, in respect of their
audit and non-audit services are RMB2,650,000 and RMB Nil,
respectively.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to
safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests, and
review and monitor the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control and risk management systems on a regular basis so as
to ensure that internal control and risk management systems
in place are adequate. The Company has established written
policies and procedures applicable to all operating units to ensure
the effectiveness of internal controls. The Company also has a
process of identifying, evaluating, and managing the significant
risks to the achievement of its operational objective. This process
is subject to continuous improvement and has been in place since
24 September 2010 and up to the date of this report. The day-to-
day operation is entrusted to the individual department, which is
accountable for its own conduct and performance, and is required
to strictly adhere to the policies set by the Board. The Company
carries out reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems from time to time in order to ensure
that they are able to meet and deal with the dynamic and ever
changing business environment.

The risk management framework includes identifying significant
risks in the Group’s operation environment and evaluating the
impacts of those risks on the Group’s business; developing
necessary measures to manage those risks; and monitoring and
reviewing the effectiveness of such measures. The implementation
of risk management framework of the Group was assisted by the
Group’s internal audit function so that the Group could ensure
new and emerging risks relevant to the Group’s operation are
promptly identified by the management, assess the adequacy of
action plans to manage these risks and monitor and evaluate the
effectiveness of the action plans. These are on-going processes
and the Audit Committee reviews periodically the Group’s risk
management systems.

The Audit Committee reported to the Board the implementation
of the Group’s risk management and internal control policy which,
among other things, included the determination of risk factors,
evaluation of risk level the Group could take and effectiveness of
risk management measures. Based on the reports from internal
audit function and the Audit Committee, the Board believes that
the existing internal control and risk management systems are
adequate and effective.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO REQUISITION
AND CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING (INCLUDING PROPOSING A RESOLUTION AT
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING)

o Any two or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholders”) shall at all times have the right, by a written
requisition signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned
(the “Requisition”), to require the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, and to put any resolution so
requisitioned to vote at such extraordinary general meeting.
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Eligible Shareholders who wish to requisition the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting for the purpose
of proposing a resolution at the extraordinary general
meeting must deposit the Requisition at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 1908-
1916, 19/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Requisition must state clearly the names of the Eligible
Shareholders concerned, specify the objects of the meeting,
and be signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned. The
Eligible Shareholders must prove their shareholdings in the
Company to the satisfaction of the Company.

The Company will check the Requisition and vertify the
identities and the shareholdings of the Eligible Shareholders
with the Company’s branch share registrar. If the Requisition
is found to be proper and in order and in compliance
with the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the Board will within 21 days of the date of
deposit of the Requisition, duly proceed to convene an
extraordinary general meeting to be held within a further 21
days, for the purpose of putting any resolution(s) proposed
by the Eligible Shareholders to vote at such extraordinary
general meeting. However, if the Requisition has been
verified as not in order and not in compliance with the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company,
the Eligible Shareholders concerned will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not convene
an extraordinary general meeting and will not put any
resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible Shareholders to vote
at any such extraordinary general meeting or any other
general meeting of the Company.

If within 21 days of the date of deposit of the Requisition,
the Board has not advised the Eligible Shareholders that
the Requisition is not in order and not in compliance
with the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, and the Board has failed to proceed to convene
an extraordinary general meeting, the Eligible Shareholders
themselves (or any one or more of the Eligible Shareholders
who holds more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
the Eligible Shareholders who signed the Requisition) may
proceed to convene the extraordinary general meeting in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which general
meetings may be convened by the Board in accordance
with the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, provided that the extraordinary general meeting
so convened must be held before the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the Requisition. All
reasonable expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholders
concerned as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholders concerned by the
Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a clear,
timely and effective communication with the shareholders of the
Company and investors. The Board also recognises that effective
communication with its investors is critical in establishing investors’
confidence and attracting new investors. Therefore, the Group is
committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure
the investors and the shareholders of the Company will receive
accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely information of the
Group through the publication of annual reports, interim reports,
announcements and circulars. The Company also publishes all
corporate communications on the Company’s website at www.
fortunetecomm.com. Further, shareholders of the Company may
send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing
them to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong. The Board maintains regular dialogues with institutional
investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed
of the Group’s strategy, operations, management and plans. The
Directors and members of various board committees will attend
the annual general meeting of the Company and answer any
questions raised. The resolution of every important proposal will be
proposed at general meetings separately.

The chairman of general meetings of the Company would explain
the procedures for conducting a poll before proposing a resolution
for voting. The poll results will be announced at general meetings
and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, respectively. In addition, the Company regularly meets
with institutional investors, financial analysts and financial media,
and promptly releases information related to any significant
progress of the Company, so as to promote the development of
the Company through mutual and efficient communications.

During the year under review, there was no change to the
constitutional documents of the Company. Shareholders, investors
and the media can make enquiries to the Company through the
following means:

Telephone number: (852) 2776 8500

By post: Room 1908-1916,
19/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre,
30 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Attention: Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Billy
By email: ir@fortunet.com.hk
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Independent Auditor's Report
BN Az B MR S

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 185,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”) together with any ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.

Loss allowance for trade and other receivables

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies in Note 2(k)(i).

How the matter was
addressed in our audit

The Key Audit Matter

At 31 December 2019,
the Group’s gross trade
and other receivables
totalled RMB183,777,000.
Loss allowance of
RMB63,861,000 was e
recorded.

Our audit procedures to
assess the loss allowance for
trade and other receivables
included the following:

Obtaining an
understanding of and
assessing the design,
implementation and
operating effectiveness
of key internal controls
over the credit control,
the trade and other
receivables collection
process and making loss
allowances for trade and
other receivables;

Management measured
loss allowance at an
amount equal to expected
credit losses (“ECLs”).
ECLs are a probability-
weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are
measured as the present
value of all expected
cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the e
cash flows due to the
Group in accordance
with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

Obtaining an
understanding on the key
data and assumptions of
the ECL model adopted
by the management,
including the historical
default data, ageing of
debtor balances, credit
terms, recent settlement
patterns and forecast
of future economic
conditions;

We identified loss
allowance for trade and
other receivables as a key
audit matter because trade
and other receivables
and loss allowance are
material to the Group and
the recognition of ECLs is
inherently subjective and
requires the exercise of
significant management
judgement.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Assessing the
reasonableness of
management’s estimates
on loss allowance by
examining the information
used by management to
form such judgements,
including testing the
accuracy of the historical
default data and
evaluating whether the
historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted
based on current
economic conditions
and forward-looking
information;

Assessing whether
items were correctly
categorised in the trade
and other receivables
ageing report by
comparing a sample
of individual items with
the relevant underlying
documentation;

Assessing the
assumptions and
estimates made by
management for the
assessment of loss
allowances for trade
and other receivables
by performing a
retrospective review of
the historical accuracy
of these assumptions
and estimates, including
historical default data and
estimated loss rates; and

Assessing the disclosures
in the consolidated
financial statements
in relation to the loss
allowances for trade
and other receivables
with reference to the
requirements of the
prevailing accounting
standards.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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B AZ BN R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wan Chi Yau, Charles.
KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

31 March 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

AN
N (3

for the year ended 31 December 2019 &=
(Expressed in Renminbi (“‘RMB”))

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit/(loss)

Other income

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Research and development costs
Impairment losses

Loss from operations

Finance (costs)/income

Loss arising from changes in fair value
on held-for-trading investments

A
SHERA

E£F(EH)
H Aoy s

HE MY
1TRFX
DIEIEN
HEE 1R

mERR

B (), s

FER PR R EATES
BE LR

Loss before taxation FRBEATES 18
Income tax FRiS i
Loss for the year FRER
Attributable to: BUF A B4 :
Equity shareholders of the Company AR Bl ER
Non-controlling interests FEIE R AE
Loss for the year FREE
Loss per share BREE
Basic (RMB) ERARE)
Diluted (RMB) e (ARE)
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January Bk -

2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See

Note 2(c).

The notes on pages 75 to 185 form part of these financial

statements.

Note
BisE

11(a)

11(b)

Seh ME MR E R

TS+ A=+ ALEE
(A ARME (T ARMDFIT)

HZ>
7N

2019 2018
—E—hE —E—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
(Note)

(Bf3E)

204,112 50,977
(203,304) (59,068)
808 (8,091)
4,210 2,851
(37,255) (113,071)
(75,716) (85,833)
(44,156) (49,300)
(36,779) (26,504)
(188,888) (279,948)
(5,662) 17,137
(512) (1,085)
(195,062) (263,896)
(195,062) (263,896)
(78,295) (69,167)
(116,767) (194,729)
(195,062) (263,896)
(0.043) (0.038)
(0.043) (0.043)

AEEFERRETENWENR _T-—NF—A—BERER
TR EWMEERNF165 « RIFUIDE - WEBFIA LR
B o BT 2(c) ©

ERZHEEERAE
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e 18m MEM R E RS

for the year ended 31 December 2019 HZE=-T—NF+=-A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in RMB)  (JAARE%I7R)
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBT T
(Note)
(B =)
Loss for the year FREE (195,062) (263,896)
Other comprehensive income for the year FRE 2 E K (BRFE) :
(after tax):
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to E&AIgeEFH HDIEEIBAIAER ¢
profit or loss:
— Exchange differences on translation of —REMBHRRENEEZIEEL
financial statements into the Group's Ve A58
presentation currency 1,861 3,511
Total comprehensive income for the year FREZEWZEEE (193,201) (260,385)
Attributable to: BT AR :
Equity shareholders of the Company IN/NEIL (76,434) (65,656)
Non-controlling interests eI (116,767) (194,729)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAZE W HEEE (193,201) (260,385)

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January Bf3E -
2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See

Note 2(c).

The notes on pages 75 to 185 form part of these financial
statements.
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Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwiill

Current assets
Held-for-trading investments
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Convertible bonds
Lease liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

NET ASSETS

FRBEE

M - BB Kk&RE
BVEE

mE

hRBEE

FHER PRz RE
&

B 5 K E A IR
RAe kR E&FEAA

REBAE
B 5 MEM RN IR
ARRIE S
HERE

RBEEFE

REERRBRE
FRBAE

The notes on pages 75 to 185 form part of these financial

statements.

Note
B EE

12
13
14

16
17
18
19

20
21
22

22

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR

at 31 December 2019 R=-ZT—hF+=-A=+—H

(Expressed in RMB) (A AR5II/R)
At At
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
R=B-hE R-Z)N\F
+=A=+-8 t-A=+—~
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTT
(Note)
(B )
8,946 9,396
8,946 9,396
2,631 3,062
1,733 482
119,916 67,065
137,839 97,420
262,119 168,029
151,799 43,478
27,140 44,435
1,779 -
180,718 87,913
81,401 80,116
90,347 89,512
1,185 =
89,162 89,512

F758 =185 Mk AZEMFHRR 2 —E05 -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fra IR

at 31 December 2019 R=Z—hF+=-A=+—H

(Expressed in RMB)  (JAA R

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR R
Share capital N
Reserves {1
Total equity attributable to equity A2 FRERRRIE
shareholders of the Company (LR
Non-controlling interests RS
TOTAL EQUITY ERBRE

At At
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
R=B-—hE R-_ZN\F
+=A=+—-8 +=—A=+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B EE AR%T ARETTT
(Note)
(B )
25
117,812 117,812
189,622 228,171
307,434 345,983
(218,272) (256,471)
89,162 89,512

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January
2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
Note 2(c).

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 31 March 2020.

Cheng Jerome
Cheng Jerome
Director (Chairman)

EFTERE)

The notes on pages 75 to 185 form part of these financial
statements.
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Balance at 1 January 2018

Changes in equity for 2018:

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprefensive income

Issuance of warrants
Purchase of own shares:
- par value paid

- premium paid

Eaquty-settled share-based transactions

(Note 23)

Balance at 31 December 2018 (Note)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

R-%-15-A-R2EH

i Sty i R

BidhEz

HEELE

- B

-BhEE

EREENIRNERR RS
()

WE-NETZA=t-Rekh
(k)

for the year ended 31 December 2019 &=
(Expressed in RMB)

GAMNEDE

N

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

kE3
T-NAF+ZA=T—BLFE
(AAR¥SITR)

KAARERRES
Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Exchange Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
Re  RHEE  EABE  EXRE  HMRE  EHER aif FEhER L
RMBOOO ~ RVBOOO  RWMBOOO  RWMBOOO  RWBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RWBOO0  RMBOO
ARET  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR
(Note25(c) ~ (Note 25(d)))  (Note 25(cl)  (Note 25(cli) ~ (Note 25(c)(i))
(s (Ko (Wskosio)  (Hskosioni) - (Wskosiw)
1798 1265547 45713 - 2803 (1004851 304140 6174 3323
- - - - - (69,167) (09,167 (194729  (2638%)
- - - 3511 - - 3511 - 351
- - - 3511 - (69,167) (5656 (194729 (260,389
- - 1290 - - - 129 - 1290
(166) - - - - - (166) - (166)
- (1,78) - - - - (1,758) - (1,758)
- - 18,133 - - - 18,133 - 18,133
(166) (1,78) 19423 - - - 17499 - 17499
17812 1263789 6199 3511 2893 (1104018 345983 (286471) 89512
ET75EF185EMT RZEMBwKRZ —HD °

The notes on pages 75 to 185 form part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BAESEER

for the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—hF+-_A=+—HILtFE
(Expressed in RMB) (A AREEFIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KARERRES
Non-
Share Share Capital  Exchange Other - Accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

BE  RBRE  EAEE  EXRE  EMEE  EHEE a FBRER s
RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBONO
ARETR  ARBTR ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTr  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR
(Note 25(c) (Note 25(c)) ~(Note 25(d)i) (Note 25(d)i) (Note 25(d)i)

(Hkosic)  (sEos(a)  (WEsos(el)  (Bkskosili) (HEsosia)i)

Balance at 1 January 2019 HoB-n§-R-Rekh | _11-718_1% o 1,263,7_89 _____ (3'1-,9_9§ ______ 3 15_11_ ______ 2 1859§ o (_1,_19410_1@_ o 345,9_83 o (_2?614_71_] _____ ?915_12_ )
Changes in equity for 2019; “E-1EZRREE.

Loss for the year 1EEEE - - - - - 1828 (1825 (H676) (195060
Other comprehensive income Ef2Ehg - - - 1,861 - - 1961 - 1,861

Total comprehensive income 2ENREE - - - 1,861 - (825 (644 (16767 (193.201)

Fffect on equityarsing fom captalinctions  FEERERRRRAEE—FHEL
from non-controling equity Shareholdersntoa (A SIERHZ/Z (H:209)

subsidtary of the Group (Note 26) - - - - 37,885 - 31,885 154,966 192,851
Transler between reserves Note 25(0)) &R 22 (R kos() - - (k5 - - 425M - - -
- - 5 - 37,885 1257 05 154966 192851

Balance at 31 December 2019 m S 5:3 gl 8 S Higle 1,263,789 19423 5372 078 (1130740 T4%  (1821) 89,162

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January fizk : AEBERLETTBWER "S- NF—A—BERER

2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this BRI ELERFE165R o BIFSL T - WESHIATLLER
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See B o BHiEE2(C) ©
Note 2(c).

The notes on pages 75 to 185 form part of these financial FT5E R 180 E T RZEMBHmEK 2 —&D °
statements.
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Operating activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Finance costs/(income)

Loss arising from changes in fair value

on held-for-trading investments
Interest income

Net loss on disposal of property, plant

and equipment

Equity-settled share-based payment

expenses
Changes in working capital:
Increase in inventories
Decrease in trade and other
receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other

payables

Cash used in operations
Income tax paid

Consolidated cash flow statement

for the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-T—hF+-_A=+—HILFE

EEER

5431 518

B T IE/EL B

8

BARE, (A

HIEX S Bt EATHES
B A 518

FIEHA

HE M R R R A
B

WA B AR (D IR
(T3RBI%

LEESE

T

B5 R EMEKRER D

B 5 M AR RIEA
OR 4,/

RERARE
B FEH

Net cash used in operating activities &% ZEIFTHE & F5

Investing activities

Payments for purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Payments for held-for-trading
investments

Loans to third parties

Decrease in pledged bank deposits

Interest received

Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities

The notes on pages 75 to 185 form part of these financial

statements.

REEH
BEWME  BEMRBZHR

HEVE - BB MR EPTERK
8
FER HIRE Z K

ERTHE=T7

EEMRIT IR
EUFE

RETHAE, (A REF
-]

Note
BisE

FalEemER

(Expressed in RMB) (LA AR¥75I7R)

2019 2018

S R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBT T
(Note)

(B =)
(195,062) (263,896)
11,474 3,445
5,662 (17,137)
512 1,085
(4,096) (2,714)

- 9

- 18,133
(1,251) (388)
50,490 6,250
(1,954) 9,382
(134,225) (245,831)
(134,225) (245,831)
(315) (4,049)

- 4
- (4,147)
(2,663) (17,554)

- 30

3,276 58
298 (25,658)

F75EE185AMERZRFM SRR 2 — 87 °

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS
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74

Consolidated cash flow statement

FARDRER
for the year ended 31 December 2019 HZE=-T—NF+=-A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in RMB)  (JAARE%I7R)
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-)N\F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE ARET T ARETIT
(Note)
(FE)
Financing activities RMEEE
Payments for the redemption of B IR E ST
convertible bonds 19(b) (18,202) (21,994)
Purchase of own shares BABFRHD - (1,924)
Proceeds from the issuance of warrants, 25172 RAE BT 5208 - 1k
net of transaction costs R - 1,290
Capital injection from a non-controlling — BB A &) FEHE AR 25 A% R
equity shareholder of a subsidiary, net T & - 32 S
of transaction costs 28 92,851 -
Advance from a non-controlling equity 2R & — BB A & — & IFEA%
shareholder of a subsidiary TS AR R EA K 19(b) 100,000 -
Refundable deposit received from a Bl —RE=FHASE—H
third party in connection with a 2 ENBRATKRIEEEN
terminated capital injection into a non-  AI3REIE S
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group 19(b) 10,000 -
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEEHEE 2 ERED 19(b) (7,188) -
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ 2NFHER S 2 F 83D 19(b) (1,052) -
Finance costs paid ENEEKAR 19(b) (4,542) (7,480)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEEFBEFE (FTH)RE
financing activities FEE 171,867 (30,108)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and B&REEESEEEH R M~
cash equivalents (R2) F5 37,940 (301,597)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 R—B—BZzRERELEE
January HH 19(a) 97,420 392,994
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExgEH e
changes 2,479 6,023
Cash and cash equivalents RT-A=+—HZzHER
at 31 December REEEER 19(a) 137,839 97,420

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January
2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
Note 2(c).

The notes on pages 75 to 185 form part of these financial
statements.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 21 May 2008 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company were
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 September 2010. The
consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2019 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”).

Upon the cessation of the e-commerce business
in 2018, the principal activities of the Group are the
development and operation of an electronic trading
platform to promote and facilitate awards earned by
customers of loyalty programmes of other companies
to be exchanged globally in the form of virtual assets
and credits for consumption of merchandises,
games, services and other commercial transactions.

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 R R BT R

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)

NARER

ERIEEEERAR ([ARAFE])RIEFRSEEED
FE T ZBRAEDE(CAR—FEN = (BiRE KE
AR _EENFRA -+ BERSHESEMK
VYREREERAR - KRRABRONR_Z—FFN
A tHBEBRBBMERZAER AR (1BF]) £
e ARABE_FT-NAF+_A=1t—HILHFE
Z%ﬁé;ﬁﬂ%i&i%@%$@ﬂ&ﬁ%%@ﬁ GtV TR
S8 -

R-ZE-NFRIETEFTHEEBE  AEEXEE
PRRABEMEEETRZFaAMEERBBEFE
Ho X B 6 8 G At 8 P 2R E AR DA R R B B S IR
EAAREHREBRAE N AL - BE - REMREMLE
ERHPEM -

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group
for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.

Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited  Annual Report 2019
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BEXSRBE

(a)

aHREH
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2019 comprise the
Group.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except for held-for-trading investments
(see Note 2(f)) and derivative financial
instruments (see Note 2(g)) which are stated at
their fair values.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant
effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed
in Note 3.

Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)

2

BAREFBER (#)

(b)

MBHEREREE

RBE—F—NF+-A=1+—BILFENE
ABBRXOEAEE -

R EHRRABE LKA GBS EE - HEHHE
RHABZEE (RKsE2f) kTESm T A
(R FisE2(g)) JHRE A FEFER

RETTE B BN BRE LRI I RKRET -
EEAEL A - EE RRR - AR
ARBERETVERRNEAREE AfF -
ARFAXH2REE - ZFHat LABARER
ERNBaEgR Ml EMER A ENREE X
EEAESENEEN B BEMNREER EEE
ARG HOBREEL T2 - BRAERRE
EZEET TR -

S OF I

ZEMGA RERRR RIS EEEER - @5t
STVERTMRAZEZETH - AIRZETHA

R BRI B AR EIRE MR SRR - B
] AR BOR R EATI R ©

EIRERAE U REERIRELHI T
BRAEAZE 2 HE KT THRAREZE
2 RR M FE3FT 7w ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Group had incurred net loss of
RMB195,062,000 and net cash used in
operating activities of RMB134,225,000.
Notwithstanding the above, based on (i) a
cash flow forecast of the Group for the twelve
months ending 31 December 2020 prepared
by the management, and (ii) the financial
assistance to be provided by the immediate
holding company of the Company in the form
of drawing its available credit facilities to ensure
the Group will be able to meet its liabilities as
and when they fall due at least twelve months
from the end of the reporting period, the
directors of the Company consider the use of
the going concern basis in the preparation of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019 to be
appropriate.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS
16, Leases, and a number of amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the
developments have had a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position
for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting
period.

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the
related interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining
whether an arrangement contains a lease,
HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases — incentives,
and HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the substance of
transactions involving the legal form of a lease.
It introduces a single accounting model for
lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all
leases, except for leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”)
and leases of low-value assets. The lessor
accounting requirements are brought forward
from HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.

Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited  Annual Report 2019
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EPN - )

(b)

(c)

MBHRROEREE ()

BE-_Z-NF+-A=1+—BILtFEE  x&
B E AL EIEF5 ARE195,062,0007T M 48 &
TEENFTRIR & F 5 A R#134,225,0007T ° &
EEi - RIBONEEEGENAEETE_Z
—TFEF+ A=+ HIET—EAANREERE
FERI R () A QB B B A% A Bl im s B E A &)
REERERENTEED  UBRAEER
REHREAZL T —_EARITHEHEE -
AAREERELFESLEEAERIHEE—F
—NF+-A=1+—"BILFENGEATERR
TiBEE o

BRRENEE

BRI AGERM—AFNEEMERE
R BBUBRELEANF165E - HERET
BRI MEEAZER  ARAKE 2 XS
AR ERAERR -

BREEM B HmEENE16 - HEI - %F
HRUERBEHRAKRBEREKET 2
EERMBARL EEATE - REBW RME
R A& 5T BRI D AR A e [ # 5T £ Bl 3k
o

ERMBREEAE165 - HE
ERMBHELENF16RMATE G ER
£175% - HE - MERRE - 78 (BRUS
BERBREQ) 4% ETLHEL ERH
E  AoRBRBREEREF16% 21
E-ERENBERBEHRERES2TH -
S RBEEZEEA X ZEE - BplAl
ABIABE—@ER - WREABEASAAEE
ERRERAEEEREEARG  EHEA12(E
AU THEE ((RHEE]) MEEEEEN
MERRS - HEEANSF ERGBEBGFE
AT KRBT EE -



2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements which
aim to enable users of the financial statements
to assess the effect that leases have on the
financial position, financial performance and
cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as
from 1 January 2019. The Group has elected
to use the modified retrospective approach and
has therefore recognised the cumulative effect
of initial application as an adjustment to the
opening balance of equity at 1 January 2019.
Comparative information has not been restated
and continues to be reported under HKAS17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the
changes to previous accounting policies and
the transition options applied are set out below:

Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)

2 EASHEEGE

(c)

BTN (8)

BRI B EERIFE165% IR 5| ARIMNOENE R
EERBERR  EHEEVBRREMRENGE
EHEBUWHIRRL MBERELASRENT
o .

AEEEE-F-AF—A—BEEREAE
BB REERIE 16 - ARBDEAEET
B TEREIEE RERN L EY SR
BYH=F—nF—A— A 2 BIREARER
—IARE - LERAR L RES KBRS
EIERIB TR -

BRBEEFBRESNEENTE MAARA
HER IR BRE— S BERIIT
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

a. New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease
mainly relates to the concept of control.
HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis
of whether a customer controls the use
of an identified asset for a period of time,
which may be determined by a defined
amount of use. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of
a lease in HKFRS 16 only to contracts
that were entered into or changed on
or after 1 January 2019. For contracts
entered into before 1 January 2019,
the Group has used the transitional
practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing
arrangements are or contain leases.
Accordingly, contracts that were
previously assessed as leases under
HKAS 17 continue to be accounted for
as leases under HKFRS 16 and contracts
previously assessed as non-lease service
arrangements continue to be accounted
for as executory contracts.

Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited  Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BAEFBEGE
(CONTINUED)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued) (c) EFTEERNEE (F)
b. Lessee accounting and transitional impact b. ABEASHEENRBESE
HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement BAVBHREENE1GRIVEE A EE

for a lessee to classify leases as either
operating leases or finance leases, as was
previously required by HKAS 17. Instead,
the Group is required to capitalise all
leases when it is the lessee, including
leases previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17, other than those
short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets which are exempted. As far
as the Group is concerned, these newly
capitalised leases are primarily in relation
to properties as disclosed in Note 27. For
an explanation of how the Group applies
lessee accounting, see Note 2(j).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e.
1 January 2019), the Group determined
the length of the remaining lease terms
and measured the lease liabilities for the
leases previously classified as operating
leases at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted
using the relevant incremental borrowing
rates at 1 January 2019.

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the
Group applied the following recognition
exemption and practical expedients at the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16:

(i) the Group elected not to apply
the requirements of HKFRS 16 in
respect of the recognition of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets
to leases for which the remaining
lease term ends within 12 months
from the date of initial application

of HKFRS 16, i.e. where the
lease term ends on or before 31
December 2019;

ZERIFE175 LAl 2

FEBABHES R

AREHESMERENETE - K2
AEBBEEEFAABBHRAERESR
K BIELHBEE S ERE17
RoEALETENTRE (FERENE
HAEREEEEEMAERIN - BLAE
Ems  ZSFENMLAEEEEME
QTFTIBEMYERR - BEASEE WM
JERABAGTRE - AfFE2() -

RBEEFEMBRELERE165E A
EI=ZE-NEF—A—R) Kgl%%ﬁ
DREAKRERNENHERARTHENK

REMG THAAEHERE  YE®E
R-Z—hF A BZHABEEEXR
P EAEITHER -

RIEF)BE R BB RE
5% Zjﬁilﬁ/\ﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘xxﬁ%
BRERABAEANLTH#ER
EERFE

EXERZFE16

ﬂ@
=
&

nuﬁi&g 2N

i AREEREIKEEMHEREER
F1eAERRAEEaEREAE
BEMSRERNFAEEHRNE
B BEREERE 165 5 X EMAA
HAEET 1218 A A& R (BT EHR
—E-AFT A=t —HZZH
RER)EE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(i)

(i)

when measuring the lease liabilities
at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16, the Group applied a
single discount rate to a portfolio
of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics (such as leases with
a similar remaining lease term for a
similar class of underlying asset in a
similar economic environment); and

when measuring the right-of-
use assets at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the
Group relied on the previous
assessment for onerous contract
provisions as at 31 December 2018
as an alternative to performing an
impairment review.

The following table reconciles the
operating lease commitments as
disclosed in Note 27 at 31 December
2018 to the opening balance for lease
liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019:

Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018

(Note 27)

2

Less: commitments relating to short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets exempted from
capitalisation

Add: lease payments for the additional periods where
the Group considers it reasonably certain that it will

exercise the extension options

Less: total future interest expenses

EPN - )

(c)

ERRERNSE (8

(i)

(i)

REBI I E 2R F165% HIRE
AEHFIERERER  A&EY
AEBAEMUSHMEERS (P
IR EE L AR B R B R LUAERR &
EEMNAERSKEERBUNES)
FERE—ERE: &

REBHFBEHRELAE165FE X
FERAMERAEEER K
EEEREMN_Z—N\F+=A
=+ BHEBREANZBEED
ZaHE - ARBEITRIERHE

TRAERKEF27THEE - R — \&F
+Z A=+ —BEEEEREEN
T-NF—ABERANHEEEENT
a2 $8R

B AR B S H AR

1 January 2019
—E-hF
—H—H
RMB’000
AR%T T

R_ZF—N\F+-_A=+—H
AR B A HE (1 5E27)

o HRBEAMEREREE M
EEEEEMEAE

11,708

(3,180)

o AREBSEEEBITES
TRB RN/ ES
B

492

9,020
(1,071)

Present value of remaining lease payments, discounted FgrFEEMFAIRE @ FH =

using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 January

2019 (Note 22)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BHE #8350 - AARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXREFBEGE
(CONTINUED)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued) (c) EFTEERNEE (F)

The right-of-use assets in relation to BRI DAL EHENHERBENE

leases previously classified as operating
leases have been recognised at an
amount equal to the amount recognised
for the remaining lease liabilities, adjusted

RAEEECRERNEERNEIGEE
BELHEER  TERAEZSHSHRE
MR —E—N\E+_A=+—B28%
A 3R P RE SR A (T m] FB - 2k B 5T A &

by the amount of any prepaid or accrued RETEI TR -
lease payments relating to these leases
recognised in the statement of financial

position at 31 December 2018.

TRERRAF B Y EREERIFE 1657
HAREBEGREMBIRRRNOETE

The following table summarises the
impacts of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on
the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position:

Carrying Carrying
amountat  Capitalisation of amount at
31 December  operating lease 1 January
2018 contracts 2019
RZE—\% R-E-h§
+-A=t+-H mEHE —-A—H
ZIREE BRER L ZIREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR®ETR
Line items in the consolidated SERBERRERPITRAEE
statement of financial position B RIS 165 H 2
impacted by the adoption of R
HKFRS 16:
Property, plant and equipment mE - HEREHE 9,396 8,484 17,880
Non-current assets FRBEE 9,396 8,484 17,880
Trade and other receivables B 5 RHMENEIE 67,065 (535) 66,530
Current assets REEE 168,029 (535) 167,494
Lease liabilities (current) HERE(RS) = 7,330 7,330
Current liabilities REBaE 87,913 7,330 95,243
Net current assets RBEEFE 80,116 (7,865) 72,251
Total assets less current liabilites BEERTEEE 89,512 619 90,131
Lease liabilities (non-current) HEERGERE) - 619 619
Non-current liabilities FREaE - 619 619
Net assets EEFE 89,512 - 89,512
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

C.

Impact on the financial result and cash
flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities at 1
January 2019, the Group as a lessee is
required to recognise interest expenses
accrued on the outstanding balance of
the lease liabilities, and the depreciation
of the right-of-use assets, instead of
the previous policy of recognising rental
expenses incurred under operating leases
on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. This results in a positive impact
on the reported loss from operations in
the Group’s consolidated statement of
profit or loss, as compared to the results
if HKAS 17 had been applied during the
year.

In the cash flow statement, the Group
as a lessee is required to split rentals
paid under capitalised leases into their
capital element and interest element (see
Note19(b)). These elements are classified
as financing cash outflows, similar to how
leases previously classified as finance
leases under HKAS 17 were treated,
rather than as operating cash outflows, as
was the case for operating leases under
HKAS 17. Although total cash flows are
unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16
therefore results in a significant change in
presentation of cash flows within the cash
flow statement (see Note19(c)).

The following tables give an indication
of the estimated impact of the adoption
of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s financial
results and cash flows for the year
ended 31 December 2019, by adjusting
the amounts reported under HKFRS
16 in these consolidated financial
statements to compute estimates of the
hypothetical amounts that would have
been recognised under HKAS 17 if this
superseded standard had continued
to apply in 2019 instead of HKFRS 16,
and by comparing these hypothetical
amounts for 2019 with the actual 2018
corresponding amounts which were
prepared under HKAS 17.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Financial results for
the year ended 31
December 2019
impacted by the
adoption of HKFRS 16:
Loss from operations ¥
Finance (costs)income B (ARK) /M A
Loss before taxation ~ BBtAIEE
Loss for the year EREE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

BRBEHAI - AARET

|’R)

RRAERUBESEY
LA 7 ph-E
“E-AETZAZt-
BEFRZ MBS

2 EXEFHEEGE
(c) SEETEEENEE (F)

2019 2018
“E-nE -\

Deduct:

Estimated

amounts

related to
Add back: operating Hypothetical Compared to
Amounts HKFRS 16 leases as if amounts for amounts
reported depreciation under 2019 as if reported for
under and interest HKAS 17 under 2018 under
HKFRS 16 expense (Note (i) HKAS 17 HKAS 17

G EBkE
REEE e EEE  BEfiHeE “E-NE #-T-N\%
BHRE BEEEN  (BRRBERE  BREEBR REDEeHE
ERIE168 S6ETHE  ERETE) REEREH ZTH2HL
bk ERFEEX (K () RAETH) SRIH

(A) (B) (C) (D=A+B-C)
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ANEEFT
(188,888) 7,395 (8,240) (189,733) (279948
(5,662) 1,052 - (4,610) 17,137
(195,062) 8,447 (8,240) (194,855) (263,896)
(195,062) 8,447 (8,240) (194,855) (263,896)
ERFBEEERQIXT T NEFFEHRE

85



86

Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Line items in the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year ended
31 December 2019 impacted by the
adoption of HKFRS 16:

Cash used in operations

Net cash used in operating activities

Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest element of lease rentals paid
Net cash generated from/(used in)

financing activities

Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited

(BAEFAIN - AARETIR)

E3 R
BLfRRS

Annual Report 2019

ALEIFRRLIR

EREEREZARS
ENEERSZHERND
HERBAE/ (FR)

2

RRARERNBEEENF16R
FRLBECE-NETR
St-RLEEZFRRERE

FE

EPN - )

(c) EFFBERNEH (F)

2019 2018
“E-hE “I-)\§

Estimated

amounts

related to
operating Hypothetical Compared to
Amounts leases as if amounts for amounts
reported under 2019 as if reported for
under HKAS 17 under 2018 under
HKFRS 16 (Notes (i) & (ii) HKAS 17 HKAS 17

FBSeRg,
it e B (R “E-NE2 H-3-)\%
REEENE REEBEH BRes(ER RESEL
BEERIE16% ERIE1TH) REERET ERIETHE
bk ()R (i) ERIE17%) R LBHH

(A) (B) (C=A+B)

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETFT
(134,225) (8,240) (142,465) (245,831)
(134,225) (8,240) (142,465) (245,831)
(7,188) 7,188 - -
(1,052) 1,052 - -
171,867 8,240 180,107 (30,108)




2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)
Notes

U)

(i)

The “estimated amounts related
to operating leases” is an estimate
of the amounts of the cash flows
in 2019 that relate to leases which
would have been classified as
operating leases, if HKAS 17 had
still applied in 2019. This estimate
assumes that there were no
differences between rentals and
cash flows and that all of the new
leases entered into in 2019 would
have been classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17, if HKAS
17 had still applied in 2019. Any
potential net tax effect is ignored.

In this impact table these cash
outflows are reclassified from
financing to operating in order to
compute hypothetical amounts of
net cash used in operating activities
and net cash generated from
financing activities as if HKAS 17
still applied.

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held
by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases. Intra-group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
interests in a subsidiary not attributable directly
or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those equity interests
which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of
those equity interests that meets the definition
of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

Changes in the Group’s equity interests in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control
are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in relative equity interests, but no adjustments
are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
equity interests in that subsidiary, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any equity interests retained in that
former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
of a financial asset (see Note 2(f)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(k(ii)),
unless the investment is classified as held-for-
sale.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of:

()  the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the
acquiree; over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities measured
as at the acquisition date.

When (i) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses (see Note 2(K|(ii)). Goodwill
arising on a business combination is allocated
to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination and is
tested annually for impairment (see Note 2(K)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during
the year, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the
profit or loss on disposal.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in
equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are
set out below.

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see Note 26(e). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows.

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) (non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election
is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as
at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss in accordance with the policy set out in
Note 2(V)(iv).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised
initially at fair value. At the end of each reporting
period the fair value is remeasured. The gain
or loss on remeasurement to fair value is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

The items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see Note 2(k|(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement
or disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment, less
their estimated residual values, if any, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Estimated useful lives

Leasehold improvements 3 -5 years
Motor vehicles and other

equipment 3 -5 years

Right-of-use assets Over the term of lease
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost
of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the estimated useful life of an
asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
Expenditure on research and development
activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the
Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life
is finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(k)
(ii)).Amortisation of intangible assets with finite
useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives.Both the period and method of
amortisation are reviewed annually.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)]

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

(i) Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and
accounts for each lease component and
any associated non-lease components as
a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less and leases of low-value
assets. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases
which are not capitalised are recognised
as an expense on a systematic basis over
the lease term.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

U

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised
when a lease is capitalised is initially
measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and
any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use
assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, discounted
to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see Notes 2(h) and 2(k)(ii)).
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

U

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or
rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee,
or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group
will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets
in “property, plant and equipment” and
presents lease liabilities separately in the
statement of financial position.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

(i)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019
In the comparative period, as a lessee the
Group classified leases as finance leases
if the leases transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group. Leases which did not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group were classified as
operating leases.

Where the Group had the use of assets
held under operating leases, payments
made under the leases were charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis
was more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the leased
asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals were charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period
in which they were incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

()

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECLS”) on
financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
and trade and other receivables) and
contract assets.

Financial assets measured at fair value,
including equity securities measured
at FVPL, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses. Credit losses
are measured as the present value of
all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls of trade and
other receivables and contract assets are
discounted using the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition on an
approximation thereof where the effect of
discounting is material.

The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses
that are expected to result from
possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date;
and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses
that are expected to result from all
possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which
the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade and other
receivables and contract assets are
always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions
at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs
when the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held).
The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of
principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

= an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

= existing or forecast changes in
the market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the
Group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)

Depending on the nature of the
financial instruments, the assessment
of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or
a collective basis. When the assessment
is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics, such
as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with
a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance
with Note 2(v)(iii) is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether a financial asset
is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

= it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter into bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

— significant changes in the market,
economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources
of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject
to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or
loss in the period in which the recovery
ocCcurs.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of
information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

— property, plant and equipment,
including right-of-use assets;

- intangible assets;
- goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In
addition, for goodwill, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Impairment of other assets
(continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an
asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group
of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXREFBEGE
(CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) GEFEREEREGE)

(continued)

(i) EEERE E)

(i) Impairment of other assets

(continued)
- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than
goodwill, an impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in
respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(iij) Interim financial reporting and

impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34,
Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria
as it would at the end of the financial year
(see Notes 2(k)(i) and 2(k)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an
interim period in respect of goodwill are
not reversed in a subsequent period. This
is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at
the end of the financial year to which the
interim period relates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

() Inventories and other contract costs

()

(i)

Inventories
Inventories are assets which are held for
sale in the ordinary course of business.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula and comprises
all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The
amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss
occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventories (see Note 2(1)(i)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are those costs that the Group incurs
to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the
contract had not been obtained e.qg.
an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised
in a future reporting period and the
costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Contract assets and contract liabilities

(n)

A contract asset is recognised when the
Group recognises revenue (see Note 2(v))
before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out
in the contract. Contract assets are assessed
for ECLs in accordance with the policy set out
in Note 2(k)(i) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become
unconditional (see Note 2(n)).

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2(v)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see Note
2(n)).

For a single contract with the customer, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability
is presented. For multiple contracts, contract
assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration.
A right to receive consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue
has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see
Note 2(m)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less allowance for
credit losses (see Note 2(k)(i)).

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2

Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(B SEBI - AARBFIT)

BAREFBER (#)

(m) EHNEERAGNEE

(n)

AR BB J AR REFIRIR S 40P &l 2 R
WERRERT - &HEEN BRI R T AR
(RKtFE2(v) - &HEBEEBRBEMT2(K)()TE2
B M TEEREEBRETE - WRBERRE
El’\Jﬁé?’rgﬁ%z%?ﬁiﬂ%ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁﬁéﬁéﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ(Euﬁﬁ
E2(n) °

RASKERERBEAREGER - AHAEREPX
NRER T AR (RHE2(V) - WAEER
FERAR R Wt i A BRI R IR T AR E R
B AIERANARE - EXFRAT  HIE
AR R YRR (RHTEE2(N) ©

AEEFNE-—QSOME @ @2JENEETF
BEXENAEFE - ZHAOME © JFER
BHNANBEERANABTNRFREES
5] o

B2 R HMBERRIE

AR B BB AT R A M ER (B B R R B M 5K
7 o HZREZIHIS AT - WER(E Z EFE
B — BRI RSB © MR AE
B A EART RN WA ERER - AIZERE
S A WEE (RMEE2m)) °

FEWRIBIRE R BB A R EHKANRER
BRI (RHEE2000)

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS

107



108

Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds which do not contain an
equity component are accounted for as follows:

At initial recognition the derivative components
of the convertible bonds are measured at fair
value as derivative financial instruments (see
Note 2(g)). Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the derivative
components are recognised as the host liability
components. Transaction costs that relate to
the issue of the convertible bonds are allocated
to the host liability and derivative components
in proportion to the allocation of proceeds. The
portion of the transaction costs relating to the
host liability components are recognised initially
as part of the liabilities. The portion relating
to the derivative components are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The derivative components are subsequently
remeasured in accordance with Note 2(g). The
host liability components are subsequently
carried at amortised cost. Interest expenses
recognised in profit or loss on the host liability
components are calculated using the effective
interest method.

If the bonds are converted, the shares issued
are measured at fair value and any differences
between the fair value of shares issued and
the carrying amounts of the derivative and
host liability components are recognised in
profit or loss. If the bonds are redeemed, any
differences between the amounts paid and
the carrying amounts of both components are
recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

(q)

()

(s)

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are measured
initially at fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see Note 2(x)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value, and are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(k(i).

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid
annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost
of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts
are stated at their present values.

The Group’s contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans are charged
to profit or loss when incurred.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in
capital reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date using the
Binomial Option Pricing Model, taking
into account the terms and conditions
upon which the share options were
granted. Where the employees have to
meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share
options, the total estimated fair value
of the share options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the share options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected to vest
is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review,
unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the actual number of the share
options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve) except
where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate
to the market price of the Company’s
shares. The equity amount is recognised
in the capital reserve until either the share
option is exercised (when it is included in
the amount recognised in share capital
for the shares issued) or the share option
expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s)

(t)

Employee benefits (continued)

(iij) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination
benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that they relate to business combinations,
or items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all
deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse either in the same period as the
expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or
credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities are those
temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that
they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax
balances, and movements therein, are
presented separately from each other and are
not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which,
in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered, intend to
realise the current tax assets and
settle the current tax liabilities on
a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u)

v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods or the
provision of services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product or service is transferred to the customer
at the amount of promised consideration to
which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and
other income recognition policies are as follows:
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the
customer takes possession of and
accepts the products. If the products
are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods and/or services,
then the amount of revenue recognised
is an appropriate proportion of the total
transaction price under the contract,
allocated between all the goods and
services promised under the contract on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Service income

Service income from the rendering of
services is recognised when the services
are rendered.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it
accrues under the effective interest
method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of
the asset (see Note 2(K)(i)).

Dividends

Dividend income from equity investments
is recognised when the shareholder’s
right to receive payment is established.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (continued)

(v) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in
the statement of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching
to them. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as other income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses
are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are
recognised as deferred income and
consequently are effectively recognised
as other income over the useful life of the
asset.

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year
are translated into the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency of the entity to which they
relate at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the entity initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

(x)

(v)

(continued)

The results of operations which have a
functional currency other than RMB, the
Group’s presentation currency, are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into RMB at the
closing foreign exchange rates ruling at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the
Group; or

(i) is a member of the key
management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(y) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are
members of the same group.

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

(v The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

@)

(vl A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel
services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

@

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services,
and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Notes 14 and 26 contain information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating to
goodwill impairment and fair value of financial
instruments. Other significant sources of
estimation uncertainly are as follows:

(i)  Impairment of non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of a non-current asset may
not be recoverable, the asset may be
considered “impaired”, and an impairment
loss may be recognised. The carrying
amounts of non-current assets are
reviewed periodically or when indications
are identified in order to assess whether
the recoverable amounts have declined
below the carrying amounts. When such a
decline has occurred, the carrying amount
is reduced to the recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the greater
of the fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In determining the
value in use, expected future cash flows
generated by the asset are discounted
to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to the level
of revenue and amount of operating
costs. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount
that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates
based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of the level
of revenue and amount of operating
costs. Changes in these estimates
could have a significant impact on the
recoverable amount of the asset and
could result in additional impairment
charge or reversal of impairment in future
periods, where applicable.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Expected credit losses on receivables
The credit losses for trade and other
receivables are based on assumptions
about the expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, which are
based on the Group’s past collection
history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. For
details of the key assumptions and
inputs used, see Note 26(a). Changes
in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the result of the
assessment and it may be necessary to
make additional loss allowances in future
periods.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets are recognised
for unused tax losses and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the deferred
tax assets can be utilised. In determining
the amount of deferred tax assets to
be recognised, significant judgement is
required relating to the timing and level
of future taxable profits, after taking into
account future tax planning strategies.
The amount of deferred tax assets
recognised at future dates are adjusted if
there are significant changes from these
estimates.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(continued)

(iv) Determining the lease term

As explained in policy Note 2(j), the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term. In determining the
lease term at the commencement date
for leases that include renewal options
exercisable by the Group, the Group
evaluates the likelihood of exercising
the renewal options taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive
for the Group to exercise the option,
including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the
importance of that underlying asset
to the Group’s operations. The lease
term is reassessed when there is a
significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s
control. Any increase or decrease in the
lease term would affect the amount of
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
recognised in future years.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

(a)

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

Revenue (a)
Upon the cessation of the e-commerce
business in 2018, the principal activities of
the Group are the development and operation
of an electronic trading platform to promote
and facilitate awards earned by customers of
loyalty programmes of other companies to be
exchanged globally in the form of virtual assets
and credits for consumption of merchandises,
games, services and other commercial
transactions. Further details regarding the
Group’s principal activities are disclosed in
Note 4(b).

(i)  Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers by major products or
service lines is as follows:
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(B AR - AARBIIR)

WA K 7 2R R &

WA

RZF-N\FRIEBTEHEERK  AKEE
ZEHRARNEEEFRI TS  MEER
BN R P A B R AR D HME A B PR E AL
NEHREERRETARERABRAL N EHm
LR IREREMHRZIZTER - BRALE
B E R E — S BB HIEE4(D)

(i) WUABD
REBERKBREERNZSNEEALN
WA :

>

2019 2018
—E-hF = N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETTT
Revenue from contracts with BB IEHREERIF 1555
customers within the scope HEARANEFSHBA
of HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products 1% F 2= fh sk BRISFE RIS 5 ¢
or service lines:
— Revenue from facilitation of —BELEE T F A RE
digital point business through HFED EBHUA
operation of an electronic
platform 204,112 50,321
- Revenue from trading of —BRKEE T OHETE
goods through operation of an R Z i m A
electronic distribution platform - 656
204,112 50,977

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers by the timing of revenue
recognition is disclosed in Note 4(b).

ol N TR EE RIS E S & B AR EEA(D)
R -

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (continued)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue
(continued)
The Group’s customer base is diversified.
There was no customer with whom
transactions exceeded 10% of the
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: no customer
with whom transactions exceeded 10%).
Details of concentrations of credit risk
arising from the Group’s debtors are set
out in Note 26(a).

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by lines of
business. In a manner consistent with the way
in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group
has presented the following two reportable
segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

° Digital point business: this segment
operates an electronic trading platform
to promote and facilitate awards earned
by customers of loyalty programmes
of other companies to be exchanged
globally in the form of virtual assets and
credits for consumption of merchandises,
games, services and other commercial
transactions.

° E-commerce business: this segment
trades goods through electronic
distribution platform, mobile applications
and other related means. The Group
ceased the operation of this segment in
2018.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

()

Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of disaggregation of
revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition, as
well as assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between
segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitors the
results attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated
to the reportable segments with
reference to revenue generated by those
segments and expenses incurred by
those segments. The measure used
for reporting segment result is gross
profit/(loss). No inter-segment sales
have occurred for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018. Assistance
provided by one segment to another,
including sharing of assets and technical
know how, is not measured. The Group’s
other operating income and expenses,
such as other income, selling and
distribution expenses, administrative
expenses, research and development
costs, impairment losses, finance costs/
income and loss arising from changes in
fair value on held-for-trading investments,
and assets and liabilities are not measured
under individual segments. Accordingly,
neither information on segment assets
and liabilities nor information concerning
capital expenditure, interest income and
interest expenses is presented.

4
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BAEFAIN - AARETIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

4  WARZDERHRE ()

(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) S
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities () HEBEE - BEEREE (B
(continued)
Information regarding the Group’s REBEE_ZT—NEER=FT-N\F+=A
reportable segments as provided to =T—HIEFE  BROoBEEREFED
the Group’s most senior executive HMRAMAEESZERTREEAER
management for the purposes of HEBAREE )RS D IHE R0
resource allocation and assessment S @
of segment performance for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 is
set out below.
Digital point business E-commerce business Total
YFRIER ETHEEK gt
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-nE S\ ZB-pE ZE\E ZB-AF R
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR  ARETT  ARWTR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
Disaggregated by timing of ~ ZRABEREDED
revenue recognition
Point in time REERREE 203,362 45,542 - 656 203,362 46,198
Over fime RERH 750 4779 - - 750 4,179
Revenue from external REMEFHUAR
customers and reportable THEAFUA
segment revenue 204,112 50,321 - 656 204,112 50977
Reportable segment gross ~~ WHEHH
profit/(loss) £/ (£8) 808 (8,278) - 187 808 (8,091)
(i)  Geographic information (i) HEER

All of the Group’s revenue for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018
were generated from sales and services
to customers in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”). All of the non-current
assets of the Group are either physically
located or allocated to operations in the
PRC.
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RITSERAR IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)

OTHER INCOME 5 Hftizs
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARETIT
Interest income A BHA 4,096 2,714
Government grants RS # B 108 146
Net loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEMEE
plant and equipment 2 SRR - (©)
Others Hip 6 =
4,210 2,851
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 6 R{EFE
2019 2018
—E—RE —T—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Impairment losses on trade and other H 5 & E A ERGRIRRE
receivables (Note 26(a)) &8 (k26 (a)) 36,779 26,504
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

7  LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7 BRBIAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BRI RACHIRR, GEA) A R & IBERIER ¢
(crediting):
(@) Finance costs/(income): (@) ®WERA (W) :
2019 2018
—E-NF —FN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
(Note)
(P )
Finance charges on convertible AR EST S E A FiEe1)
bonds (Note 21) 6,804 11,385
Interest expenses on lease liabilites A& & &F| S5 (T5E19())
(Note 19(b)) 1,052 -
7,856 11,385
Net foreign exchange gain HNE IR 55 R (478) (1,494)
Changes in fair value on the derivative AT HIGEFHTET BB
components of convertible bonds NI EEF (fE21)
(Note 21) (245) (26,438)
Gain on redemptions, extinguishment &[] « 5 (& & &2 Al A% E 5
and recognition of convertible 2 Was (BfEE21)
bonds (Note 21) (1,471) (590)
5,662 (17,137)
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using izt : ANEEFEALETEREGRERB BT
the modified retrospective approach. Under s HERZE165R  ABIFUL A - WSS A
this approach, the comparative information is LEEE R} o RHIFE2(c) °
not restated. See Note 2(c).
No borrowing costs have been capitalised for QE:?:)‘\L@*P:H =+—BILFE  ¥&
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: BREERRE (CE—N\F - AREZT) -

RMBNIl).
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7

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

(b)

Staff costs®:

Salaries, wages and other benefits

retirement plans

Equity-settled share-based payment  #zs&EE AR (D AR~
R FAZ (F15E23)

expenses (Note 23)

The employees of the subsidiaries of the
Group established in the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong) participate in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes managed by the
local government authorities, whereby these
subsidiaries are required to contribute to the
schemes ranged from 16% to 20% of the
employees’ basic salaries. Employees of these
subsidiaries are entitled to retirement benefits,
calculated based on a percentage of the
average salaries level in the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong), from the above mentioned
retirement schemes at their normal retirement
age.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of Hong Kong
Dollars (“HK$”) 30,000. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme vest immediately.

The Group has no further material obligation for
payment of other retirement benefits beyond
the above contributions.

e TEREMER
Contributions to defined contribution A5 E L FER KT 2 =X
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FABE A1 548 ()
BIRA :

2019 2018

—®-nE T )\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFR  ARETR

92,402 103,246

9,360 12,163

- 18,133

101,762 133,542

AEBERFE (TRIEES) KL E AR
B S 2008 BT s B IR B0 U HBURIKAE
METE - B REHNBRARLAZENTTER
BEARH2#16-20%AH Bt I HR - ZFH
BRANEEEIEEERRARFRIEARER
g FAURREFBIZ AR E (T REER) 13
HEKFADLAENRAER -

AEETRERS (RFIEREE RO &
EEB(RRIEL) ADEEEERAZENER
BT TREIEATERE ((RESFE]) - 8
BE I RRBY XA EENIEHFRK
T8l - RERESTE  BENMERERBA
ZEEBRBANS%AETEIHER - B ABRK
APA30,0008 7T (BTT)) RIR © [A5&E 27 &
TRV RN RS -

PR Bt RN - REE I EA R E MR
BAEE—FEANREE
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

7

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

(c)

Other items:

Cost of inventories* (Note 17(b))

Depreciation charge* (Note 12)

— owned property, plant and equipment
— right-of-use assets*

Operating lease charges relating to
short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets

Minimum lease payments for lease
previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17*

Auditor’s remuneration — audit services

* The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 *
using the modified retrospective approach and
adjusted the opening balances at 1 January

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

7 BRBAIERE G

(c) HfbER :
2019 2018
—E-NE —E-N\E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
FERA (7E17(0) 203,233 58,713
TEZA (fiE12)
—EERNYE - BE KRG 4,079 3,445
—(EAEEE 7,395 =
HEHAE R KEEEE
HEAENKELTHEER
3,099 =
RIEB B ERIFE 17985 AT
DEAKERENHENRIE
HERFH - 11,756
12 20 B B A% 2R AR 7% 2,650 2,580

ANEEER

RIETRWEBRERE MR
HEAE165 - WHABR-ZE-—NF—F—BH

HEMRAERBIE R B SRt R B TR LR

2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating DERCEHENHENFERAEEE - RNZF

to leases which were previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17. After
initial recognition of right-of-use assets at
1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee is
required to recognise the depreciation of right-
of-use assets, instead of the previous policy
of recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See
Note 2(c).

No staff cost or depreciation expense is
included in cost of inventories for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: RMBNIl).
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g o
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BHE #8350 - AARETIR)
INCOME TAX 8 FiiEH
(a) Income tax in the consolidated statement (a) SZEBEERAWFEEA :
of profit or loss represents:
2019 2018
—E-hE —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Current and deferred taxation RIEA K iR 1E - =
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) REABRERGTENBERZHEGHEEZY
accounting loss at applicable tax rates: B :
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
Loss before taxation B A ES IR (195,062) (263,896)
Expected tax on loss before taxation,  1%i# /A A B )5 & 8@ A1 AY
calculated at the rates applicable to M EETE R AT TRET IR
profits in the jurisdictions concerned &5 18 (B ~ (i) Ba i)
(Notes (i), (i) and (iii)) (42,695) (60,833)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A 1% S BO R 75 22 8,606 12,718
Tax effect of unused tax losses and RIER R AR E) A RIE R M AT
deductible temporary differences BEREEENTRETE
not recognised 34,089 48,115
Income tax FriS#i - _
ERPSHEEERLIT —TNFFERS
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

8 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting loss at applicable tax rates:
(continued)

Notes:

U

(i)

The Company and the subsidiaries of the
Group incorporated in Hong Kong are subject
to Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
16.5%). No provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax has been made, as the Company and the
subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in Hong
Kong did not have assessable profits subject
to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: RMBNIl).

The Company and the subsidiaries of the
Group incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands, respectively, are not
subject to any income tax pursuant to the rules
and regulations of their respective countries of
incorporation.

The subsidiaries of the Group established in
the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) are subject to
PRC Corporate Income Tax rate of 25% for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 25%).
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(B AR - AARBIIR)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9 EEF
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section BIEEB R REHIFE383(1)IE R AR (HEEEHZE
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and ERD)BEPFER BN ESEHIAT ¢
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
2019
“E-NE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary ~ scheme Share-based
fees in kind bonuses contributions  Sub-total  payments Total
-4 B DY TiE)
BEe REVEN  BETA HEER Mt BRNAR st
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETFT AR¥TR AR%TR AR%TR ARETr AR%TR ARET:R
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng Jeromet 4 - 422 - - 422 - 422
Mr. Yuan Weitao RIEBAE - 874 - 47 921 - 921
Non-executive director FHTES
Mrs. Guo Yan EES - 265 - - 265 - 265
Independent non-executive BUFYTES
directors
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BHE - 265 - - 265 - 265
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan RSB L A - 265 - - 265 - 265
Mr. Liu Jialin AEREE - 265 - - 265 - 265
- 2,356 - 47 2,403 - 2,403
EWPZHEEERAT T NFFERS
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 9 EEHM (&)
2018
2\
Selaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme Share-based
fees in kind bonuses  contrioutions Sub-total payments Total
A4 RIR RN A
E=e  REWEN  BBEL R N BRI @t

RMB0OO ~ RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB000
ARETT ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Executive directors HITES

Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng Jeromest & = 381 = = 381 18,133 18,614

Mr. Yuan Weitao RESEE - 828 - 52 880 - 880

Non-executive director FHTES

Mrs. Guo Yan Pt - 263 - - 263 - 263

Independent non-executive  BUFHTES

directors

Mr. Wong Chi Keung BIHEA - 263 - - 263 - 263

Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan PRaa A - 263 - - 263 - 263

Mr. Liu Jialin ey St - 263 - - 263 - 263
- 2,261 - 52 2,313 18,133 20,446
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10

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
there is no (2018: two) director(s) whose emoluments
are disclosed in Note 9. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining five (2018:
three) individuals who are not directors are as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)

10 EEHFEHAL

hE&EEFALY  XE(CE-N\F: WB)ESH-
WEZHFMNMEORE - EBRAR(ZT—/\F -
=R)FEFZATHFMAFTIT

2019 2018
S A M
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ETR AR¥ETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R AEYET 8,603 5,530
Retirement scheme contributions RORET B K 154 112
8,757 5,642

The emoluments of the five (2018: three) individuals
who are not directors and who are among the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are within the
following bands:

HK$Nil-HK$1,000,000 = TE 1,000,000/ 7T

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/8 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T
HK$3,500,001-HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7.2 4,000,000/ 7T

AEELERSFMALTFIESNABAL(ZE
— N\ ZR)NFMN FATEHE -

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT-)N\F
Number of Number of
Individuals individuals

A A&

- 1
3 _
1
1

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

11 LOSS PER SHARE 11 SREE

(@) Basic loss per share (a)

The basic loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2019 is calculated based on
the loss attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company of RMB78,295,000 (2018:
RMB69,167,000) and the weighted average
of 1,810,9583,000 ordinary shares (2018:
1,812,096,000 ordinary shares) in issue during
the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares:

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—HA—RZBETE
Effect of shares repurchased BRI E
Weighted average number of ordinary WR+-A=+—HBz¥&
shares at 31 December T
(b) Diluted loss per share (b)

The Group’s convertible bonds, share options
granted and warrants issued could potentially
dilute basic loss per share in the future, but
were not included in the calculation of diluted
loss per share because they are antidilutive for
year ended 31 December 2019.

The diluted loss per share for year ended 31
December 2018 was calculated based on the
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company (diluted) of RMB80,820,000 and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares
(diluted) of 1,867,476,000.
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BREXEE
HE-_E—NhE+-_A=+—RHLEE "
R E AR E I8 IR AN A 5] i 25 A% B S B 18
AR#78,295,000c(ZZE—N\F : AR
69,167,0007T) &R F A E 217 E B INE T2
1,810,953,0000% (== — /\4F : 1,812,096,000
f& AR FTEWT ¢

HBB T
2019 2018
S L
’000 ‘000
T T
AR 1,810,953 1,813,509
- (1,413)

BRRANE

1,810,953 1,812,096

BREEER

AEEWABRES  SROBRENSET
B SRR RERE A BE IR RSB B AR E A B8 - M
TEMABEEEERZAESD  ANAD
REBZ_ZE-—NET_A=+—HLFERE

HE-_Z—\F+_A=1+—HItFEFRH
SEEE T ENAR B IR R (L &R (H5E)
AR #380,820,0007T K & 8 A% A4 - 5 £ (B
%) 1,867,476,0000% °



12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a)

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Cost:

At 1 January 2018
Additions
Disposals

At 31 December 2018

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2018
Charge for the year
Written back on disposals

At 31 December 2018

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2018

Cost:

At 31 December 2018

Impact on initial application
of HKFRS 16 (Note)

At 1 January 2019
Exchange adjustments
Additions

At 31 December 2019

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2019
Exchange adjustments
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2019

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2019

B
R=ZE—\F—H—H
AE

HE

R-Z-N\Ft-A=t-H

REHE
RZZ—\F—F—H
ERTH

HERE

RZF-N\Ft-A=1-H

fREfE :
R-Z-N\Ft-A=t-H

B

o e
BAERE B EREER
F165MT 2 (i3

R-2-nF-A-R
EsiE

E
R-B-NEF+=AZ+-E
CELE
R-F-NF—A-R
R

EREH

R-E-NE+-A=1—H

SR -
R-Z-NFt-A=t-H

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using
the modified retrospective method and adjusted
the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to
recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases

which were previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17. See Note 2(c).
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RITSERAR IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

12 Y% - BMEKRRKE
(a) HREEYIER

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

Motor vehicles
Leasehold and other Right-of-use
improvements equipment assets Total
RER

HEEE HitkfE EREEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBT R ARBT
3,909 9,839 - 13,748
2,285 1,764 - 4,049

- (18) - (18)

6,194 11,585 - 17,779
(2,413) (2,530) - (4,943)
(1,099 (2,346) - (3,445)

= 5 = 5

(3,512) (4,871) - (8,383)
2,682 6,714 - 9,396
6,194 11,585 - 17,179

- - 8,484 8,484

6,194 11,585 8,484 26,263

14 43 64 121

- 315 2,173 2,488

6,208 11,943 10,721 28,872
(3,512) (4,871) - (8,383)

@) (25) (36) (69)

(1,375) (2,704) (7,395) (11,474)
(4,895) (7,600) (7,431) (19,926)
1,313 4,343 3,290 8,946
izt : AEEGALERBNET RERBETE

WEERAF16%  LRBE_F-NF—A
— AV SR ARRBIRER B S ERE
17D ERREHENAENEREE

E o RHIFE2(c) ©

ERZHEEERAE

“E-NEFERSE
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 Y% - MERRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Right-of-use assets (b) FRHEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of- RAREES ENFERAEEENREFEND
use assets by class of underlying asset is as W
follows:
31 December 1 January
2019 2019
—E-hE —E-NEF
+=—A=+—H —A—H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR¥TR

Office premises, carried at depreciated P AZEWE @ UITER AT

cost 3,290 8,484
The Group has obtained the right to use office RE .ELﬂfﬂfoﬁA WMREYRNER
premises through tenancy agreements. The & - MENVIHRHEE T S
leases typically run for an initial period up to 3
years.

The analysis of expense items in relation to £} :T B ERNEERRENFRIAR DN
leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows: LIS
2019 2018
—E-hF = N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
(Note)
(BF=E)
Depreciation charge of right-of-use = $ BEED B AR

assets by class of underlying asset: BEMNTERS :

Office premises NEYE 7,395 =
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 7(a)) HEBENFE H:E7@) 1,052 -
Expenses relating to short-term leases ~ EEEHHERKEELEERE

and leases of low-value assets o] 3,099 =
Minimum lease payments for REEE T ERIEA 7R

leases previously classified as DERKEHENHENRIE

operating leases under HKAS 17 HERRK - 11,756
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 Y% - MERRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Right-of-use assets (continued) (b) FHREEEGE
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 Mizk : AEBERAKEIEBEERERBBTH

using the modified retrospective approach and WwMEERE165 WAR_T—NLF—A
adjusted the opening balances at 1 January —HOH SR A ERIRIEE S S ERSE
2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating 17RARIDBEAKEHENHENFERAEE
to leases which were previously classified E-RZT—NF—A—BEREREHE
as operating leases under HKAS 17. After BER  AEBERFEANERREAEE
initial recognition of right-of-use assets at ENE  MARUANBREESEEHEE
1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee is HANBRAKEHEEENHEER - BRERU
required to recognise the depreciation of right- TE - WS R L ERER o BHEE2(C) °

of-use assets, instead of the previous policy
of recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See

Note 2(c).
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the HELBE RO EEESEIHLTHFED
maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in RIEFHIFE19(c) K222 °

Notes 19(c) and 22, respectively.
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13

14

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 31 December 2019, the Group has following
intangible assets:

(i) An electronic distribution platform, www.
CCIGMALL.com, which the Group acquired
through the acquisition of an e-commerce
business in 2015. In view of the increasing
competition within the e-commerce sector,
and the slower than expected growth and
uncertainties surrounding the future of the
Group’s own e-commerce business, the Group
has written down the carrying amount of the
intangible asset to its recoverable amount of
RMBNiIl in 2017. The Group has ceased the
e-commerce business in 2018.

(i)  An exclusive income right obtained in 2016 from
the development of a tailor-made e-commerce
platform for a property developer in order to
earn revenue from this property developer by
assisting its property sales through the platform.
In view of the slower than expected progress of
the property projects under development by the
above property developer, the management of
the Group considered such projects may not be
developed as planned. The Group has written
down the carrying amount of the intangible
asset to its recoverable amount of RMBNIl in
2017. The directors of the Company confirm
that the Group is taking the necessary actions
to recover all or part of the consideration paid
to the above property developer.

GOODWILL

In 2015, the Group acquired the 51% equity interests
in Century Network Holding Limited (“Century
Network”) for a consideration of RMB76,392,000.
The excess of the cost of the purchase over the
net fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired
of RMB61,013,000 was recorded as goodwill and
allocated to the Century Network’s e-commerce
business.

As mentioned in Note 13, in view of the slower than
expected growth of the e-commerce business, the
Group has written down the carrying amount of the
goodwill to its recoverable amount of RMBNil in 2017.
The Group has ceased the e-commerce business in
2018.
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BILEE

R-E—
BiE

NE+ZA=1t—HB XEEFUTEF

() EFDHEFEwww.CCIGMALL.com » JhAE
ER TR ERKRBErmBEEBWER
Ko BRETRE D E Tz - ARA
SEESEFRHEXBKIERRBHZERER
RZAEEN  AEBER-Z—tFBHE
FEENRABEMREEATKECBARKET
Lo AEBER_ZT—N\FRIEETHEE
f%o

i) AEER-_ZF-R"ES—2VEREEHRET
HEFRHE TR ZBREAER - AEB
ZFamBEMEHE BB EMEERER

WA - R LY RFREERE CWEEB E
E@ﬁ%%@’$ﬁlﬁﬁgm y%FEE KR

REMFEMBR - AREER T —LFHlt
ﬂﬁﬁ?%%@@Wﬂ%ﬁT%@ > BARE
im AR RIEFHERA R B IERKE 2 E
@ PENTLEAMEREBRERRBERT

]

RZZE—HF  AEENUREARYKT6,392,000
TT Y& Century Network Holding Limited ([Century
Network])51%%# - B8 8 pX2ANR I Fr i i m] 33 51 &
EFENATFENEZEARKG1,013,0007TH 8%
AR K D E Century Network#) B F R Z 755 -

i

BT EE13ATI - BN E TR B IR RENTES
AEBER T —tFHEENREERREER]
WEEBARBET - AEEER -_T— N\FLIE
ETREEXRS -
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

15 RMIBAEIZERE

(BZ=EFHAEN

RITSERAR IR

- UARMFIT)

The following list contains only the particulars of THREHINEAEEESE  BEEIBEENETEY
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, LB R RIS o
assets or liabilities of the Group.
Proportion of ownership interest
FRRERLD
Particulars of The
Place of registered/issued Group’s Held by
establishment/ and effective the Held by Principal
Name of subsidiaries incorporation paid-up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries ~activities
/&R ift/BRAR  AREK A0E WEAR
(i P HIBE MERAHE  ERER fi&% fike TEEE
Beiing Century Fortunet Network Technology Co., Ltd. * ~ The PRC RMB3,000,000 51% = 100%  Trading of goads through electronic
distribution platform, mobile
applications and other related
o 7 ’ means \
RSB AR 48 AE30000007 FEETAUTA HEEAES
REMEEARZ A
Beiing Century Fortunet Technology Co., Ltd. * The PRC RMB27,000,000 51% - 100% Maintenance of electronic
distribution platform and mobile
N . apphca ions \
PRt REBHEARAR hE ABE#527,000,0007C BERTAHT R RBEBERE
Centchain Co, Ltd. (‘Centchain’) * The PRC RMB200,000,000 18.9% - 100%  Facilitate digtal point business
through an electronic platform
tRGEEREANA (HEGE]) hE ARH200,0000007C BRET T RRTHTRAKE
Gentury Network The British Virgin Islands  United States Dollar 51% 51% - Investment holding
(‘USD')1
EBRNHS EG(ES) RERR
Pointsea Company Limited (‘PCL") (Note (i) The Cayman lslands RMB12,701 18.9% - 47.24%  Investment holding
PEARAR2E]) () REHS AEB12701T RERER
Pointsea Holaings Gompany Limited The British Virgin Islands ~~ RMB100,000,000 40% = 80% Investment holding
PEERERAT ABRNES ARE100,0000007 RARR
Pointsea (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong 1 share 18.9% = 100%  Investment holding
B ERRRAT (55 1] RERR
Shanghai Sub-chain Information Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB10,000,000 = = - Faciitate digital point business
[{Sub-chain’)* (Note (i) \ / through an e\ectromc platform
HEAERESRMARAR (A B (k) i ARH10,000,00070 L@&“* RETHT
/\4%415(
Treasure Ease Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands RMB80,065,000 50.1% 50.1% - Investment holding
(‘Treasure Ease”) . - )
ABRAES AFRH80,065,0007C REHR

*

Chinese.

The English translation of the names are for reference
only and the official names of these entities are in

*

RYBFLHEFZERNEERIBENAWATX

ERZHEEERAE

—ThEEERE | 14]
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BIFS R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i) The management of the Group considers PCL is a
subsidiary of the Group through its power to control
the board of directors of PCL.

(i) In July 2017, the two individual equity holders (the
“Sub-chain’s equity holders”) of Sub-chain entered
into a loan agreement with Centchain, pursuant
to which Centchain provided interest-free loans of
RMB5,000,000 to each of the Sub-chain’s equity
holders. The loans are secured by the respective
equity interests in Sub-chain held by the Sub-chain’s
equity holders. Centchain is granted an exclusive
and irrevocable option to purchase part or all of the
equity interests in Sub-chain held by the Sub-chain’s
equity holders. The Sub-chain’s equity holders
entrust all of their respective equity holder rights in
Sub-chain to Centchain. Although the Group does
not hold any equity interests in Sub-chain, based
on the terms of agreements Centchain contracted
with the Sub-chain’s equity holders, the Group has
the current ability to direct Sub-chain’s activities that
most significantly affect the returns and will receive
substantially all of the returns related to Sub-chain’s
operations and net assets. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company consider it is appropriate to account
Sub-chain as a subsidiary.
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15 RKELRZRE @&

fia -

(i)

AEEERERAREETDBEESZEN D8R
AEEFBRA] -

R=Z—tFtA  PEERBERIREFEA(D
B iERkER A AL Bt BRI B g - IRt
wGEE My B ERERE ARMARKS,000,000
TREER - BERHD EEREFEASERD EiE
BH 2 mE AR - o B B R R A E
BN E I D B ERERE ARD BiE
BH 2z - DEERERBEABBESSERD EE
ZIRERE AT R T C5BE - REAEEARR
S EEF ARG - EEN S B A
FE AR 2 &G - REBWMBRT D B85
B(HWRFAGEATES) 2B AN RIEKESE
EEEREEFEZASHER - Flt - AARES
REBDEETRANBARBRE °



15

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

The following tables list out the combined financial
information of Century Network and its subsidiaries
(“Century Network Group”), and Treasure Ease and
its subsidiaries (“Treasure Ease Group”), the two sub-
groups within the Group, which have material non-
controlling interests (“NCI”). The summarised financial
information presented below represents the amounts
before any inter-company elimination.

Century Network Group and Treasure Ease Group

Percentage of NCI
FEREREDL

— Century Network
— Treasure Ease

Revenue A

Net loss

Net loss attributable to NCI

— Century Network
—Treasure Ease

BRI

IR s (R B TRF RR

Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BHE #8350 - AARETIR)

15 RELRZKRE @)

TRINIEAEBNEEAIEZER R ([FEERRER])
H))X £ B Century Network X E [ B A & ([Century
Network Groupl) JA K Treasure Ease [ EH B A &)
([Treasure Ease Group)) & HEIFEE R o T8
HEREE AR IEL TR QG MY A FUE

Century Network Group X Treasure Ease Group

2019 2018
—B-nE T )\F
49.0% 49.0%
81.1% 80.0%
2019 2018
—E-NF —ET-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
(Note)

(Ff$3E)

204,112 50,977
(161,510) (266,697)
(116,767) (194,729)

ERFBEEERLT T NFEESRS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15 RHEARZRE (&)

(CONTINUED)

Non-current assets EmBNEE

Current assets MENEE

Current liabilities mENEE

Non-current liabilities EREEE

Net liabilities E=N

Net liabilities attributable to NCI IR EREGFAE

Note: The subsidiary has initially applied HKFRS 16 using
the modified retrospective approach and adjusted
the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
additional right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
relating to leases which were previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not
restated.
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BiE -

At 31 December At 31 December
2019 2018
R-ZZE—-—NE RZT—)\F
t=RA=+—-8 +=-A=1+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
(Note)

(%)

6,540 6,663
156,797 62,128
(575,577) (5613,557)
(1,185) -
(413,425) (444,766)
(218,272) (256,471)

MEBAREEBEERTEWERRERTBUHB IR
EHERF165E  WHBR-_T—NF— A —ANHY
RN ERREE B EPERFE1TREM A BRE
SHENHENRIMERAREERBHERRE - RE
BE75% - WEEF A LA R -
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)

16 HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 16 BEXZFHABRZERE
At 31 At 31
December December
2019 2018

R=B—NE R-BNE
+=B=+-A +=A=+—~
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFRE  ARETR

Held-for-trading investments: FEXGRBZIRE -

— Listed equity securities in Hong Kong — BB ETHIRAE 2,474 2,909

— Unlisted units in investment funds —REESWIE EMEN 157 153

2,631 3,062

Held-for-trading investments are stated at their fair RHER SR REKC S EERMIG AFRRES
values which have been determined by reference to ENAFEZY FEXFREZREN AT EE
the published price quotations in active markets. Loss FEFEHARKS12,000EREBEE_T—NF+=
on fair value changes of held-for-trading investments A=+—RHILFENBRFPERA(CZE—N\F : AR
of approximately RMB512,000 has been recognised #1,085,0007T) °

in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: RMB1,085,000).
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr BAE I + AAREZIT)

17 INVENTORIES 17 =FE&
(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement (a) HZEPEMRARNEEESR :
of financial position comprise:
At 31 At 31
December December
2019 2018

R=2—-h& RZFT)/\F
+t=A=+—-R t=-A=t—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREBTT

Merchandises held-for-trading BIER S A% 2 Em 2,806 1,358
Less: write-down of inventories W TR EMOR (1,073) (876)
1,733 482
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories (b) CEREBIRITAGSEZRNEFEESED
recognised as an expense and included T

in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss is as follows:

2019 2018
—g-nE  —T)E
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR¥ETT

Carrying amount of inventories sold EEGFENRAE 203,022 58,713
Write-down of inventories FEMR 211 =
203,233 58,713
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18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Less: loss allowance (Note 26(a))

Other receivables:
— Loans to third parties
— Receivable for issuance
of shares of a subsidiary
to a non-controlling equity
shareholder (Note 28)
— Others

Less: loss allowance (Note 26(a))

Financial assets measured at
amortised cost

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

B 5 YRR
L BRI (M E26(a)

HAib fEU IR
—EXTE=H
—[A— R IEER R AR

BT RN B A TR
B FE UK IR (P EE28)

—Efh

L BRI (T E26(a)

REHX AT R
TREE

Prepayments and deposits (Note) &I 7RIE ik E (i)

Note: On the date of transition to HKFRS 16, prepayments

Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

18 EERHEMEKRE

31 December 1 January 31 December
2019 2019 2018
R-B-hE R-T-NE R-TN\F
+=A=+—8 —A—H +=ZRA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBEFTT AREBTFTT
5,876 23,979 23,979
(310) (3,604) (3,604)
5,566 20,375 20,375
58,857 54,352 54,352
100,000 = =
9,325 49,592 49,592
168,182 103,944 103,944
(63,551) (67,031) (67,031)
104,631 36,913 36,913
110,197 57,288 57,288
9,719 9,242 9,777
119,916 66,530 67,065

PEE

of operating leases previously included in
“prepayments and deposits” were adjusted to right-
of-use assets recognised at 1 January 2019. See
Note 2(c).

RBEEEBUBRMELERNE165BH - LAt
A[ERRERZS | NEEHERNRBEDARE
R-ZE—hF— A —BERNEREEE - LT
2(c) °

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

18

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 EZ R HMEWRIE (&)
(CONTINUED)
All of the trade and other receivables, net of A2 5 & E b I GRIE (kB iE #E) TEHIR —F
loss allowance, are expected to be recovered or AW EIsER AR °
recognised as expenses within one year.
Ageing analysis BRER AT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing HEREHR  STABSRAMEBKHKIEZE S E
analysis of trade receivables (net of loss allowance), Wk IE (INBR B iE ) AR %2 B R ERE 2T 1
included in trade and other receivables, based on the T
invoice date, is as follows:
At 31 At 31
December December
2019 2018
RZBE-hE RKRZZ—N\F
+=ZA=+—8 +=-—A=1+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT T AREFIT
Within 3 months =EAA 5,141 19,518
Over 3 months but within 6 months BE=1E A B /NEA 409 688
Over 6 months B iE 7 fE A 16 169
5,566 20,375

Details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade and other receivables are set out in
Note 26(a).
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash at bank and on hand

The Group’s operations in the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong) conduct their businesses in RMB.
RMB is not a freely convertible currency and the
remittance of funds out of the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong) is subject to the exchange
restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash
flow statement as cash flows from financing
activities.

RITRFHERE

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BHE #8350 - AARETIR)
19 RERRLEEBEAUREMBSRER
(@) FHeRFASEZEEEEE:
At 31 At 31
December December
2019 2018
R=ZB—-NEF RZIZT-N\F
+ZA=+-B +-A=+—B
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBT T
137,839 97,420

AEBRTE(TREER)NEGEEAAR
KatE - ARERTAERABNEERES
LB (TBREER) AR BB ERASN
ERBIRE ©

(b) BMEFBELERENEER

TREMAEEREZDAEABNES (B
Re kRS E) - RELAPMSABHERES
MEBAARARRERESNAREZERERE
RPENBERBETDAERERE -

ERZHEEERAE

“E-NEFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BABAIN + UARETIR)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 19 RERBLSEEEFEEUREMBESRER (E)
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) BMETBELEENEIERGE
financing activities (continued)
Refundable
deposit received
from a third
partyin
connection with
Advance froma aterminated
Liability Derivative  non-controlling  capital injection
components components equity  into anon-wholly
of convertible of convertible shareholder  owned subsidiary Lease

bonds bonds of a subsidiary of the Group liabilities Total
Bh-2%=5
HARE-H
KE-EMEAR  FRENENR
TRRES TRRERN NEERES RILEER

WaEHs  fAIARD ELIEE TRERE HE8E it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RM’B'OOO
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
(Note 21) (Note 21) (Note 20) (Note 20) (Note 22)
(#321) (#k21) li20) li20) ik
At31 December 2018 R=2-NE+ZA=t-R 14363 72 - - - 4445
Impact on inial applicaton of BAERARIHREERZ10
HKFRS 16 (Note Fga = - - - 7949 7949
At1 January 2019 it SR U 7 - - 79 B
Changes from financing cash flows: AERSRERD
Payments for the redemptions of EOTARES 23
convertiole bonds ‘ (18202) - - - - (18.202)
Advance from a non-contraling equity RE-RWBARN I RER
shareholder of a subsidiary a3 - - 100,000 - - 100,000
Refundable deposi recelved fom athirdparty ~ EN-2E = 4AEE -
in connection with a teminated capital FRENERAREEEN
inectioninto anon-wholly owned subsidiay ~~ TRIERS
of the Group - - - 10,000 - 10,000
Capita element of lease rentals paid EfRERE ARED - - - - (7189 7189)
Inerest element of ease rentals paid BffEReHEES - - - - (1052 (1059
Inerest paid EffflE (4542) - - - - (t542)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERSIENZHEE (22,74 - 100,000 10,000 8240) 79016
Other changes: Hfhg:
Increase in lease liabltes rom lease modifcation RETZ B S AEEM - - - - 2,173 2173
Finance costs (Note 7(2) AR () 6,804 - - - 1052 7856
Changes i far valug on the cerivative THREAMIETATAAT
components of convertble bonds (Note 7la) & & (R 7(a) - (245 - - - (o45)
Gai on redemptions, exinguishmentend 8- EERBZTARES
recognion of converthle bonds (Note 78) e (R Tia) (1,655 184 - - - (1471
Exchange adjustments B 39 2 - - K| 31
5508 (9 - - 3,299 8,704
At 31 December 2019 R-E-AETZA=T-R 2,127 13 100,000 10,000 2,964 140,104
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 19
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

RERREFEBREAURAMRSRER ()

(b) BMEZFBELERBNERGE

financing activities (continued)

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16
using the modified retrospective method and
adjusted the opening balances at 1 January
2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to
leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. See Note

2(c).

At 1 January 2018

Changes from financing
cash flows:

Payments for the redemptions

of convertible bonds
Interest paid

Total changes from financing
cash flows

Other changes:

Finance costs (Note 7(a))

Changes in fair value on the
derivative components of
convertible bonds
(Note 7(a))

Gain on redemptions and
extinguishment of
convertible bonds
(Note 7(a))

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2018

R=B-NE—-A—H
RMERSRERE

ERE e AN A
ENFIE
MERSRENE S RH
Hitn@ g

BE R (Bi15E7 (2)

AR ES T LA
BHAFELH (H5E7(a)

F [ R (8 AT AR B 5

rydzs (BIRE7 ()
[E 5 %
R-ZE-—N\F

+=A=+-—-H

e - AEREEBEEIENEERERT LB
WEEANE16  THBE-_F—NF—A—
B R EI ) G ER AR BRI B G Rt ERI 17
RERMDBERKEEENTEHENTEHERE -

RHFE2(C) ©
Liability Derivative
components components
of convertible  of convertible
bonds bonds Total
AR ES ARBRESHN
HEEIHD FTEIEHS st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AR%T T AR¥T R
(Note 21) (Note 21)
(Hi=E21) (HfzE21)
59,031 26,044 85,075
(21,110 (884) (21,994)
(7,480) - (7,480)
(28,590) (884) (29,474)
11,385 - 11,385
- (26,438) (26,438)
(5690) - (590)
3,127 1,350 4,477
13,922 (25,088) (11,166)
44,363 72 44,435
EWPZHEEERAT T NFFERS
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(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c)

Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the cash flow statement
for leases comprise the following:

Within operating cash flows

19 BRERRESFEBREUREMRERER (B

(c)

BREERSRE

— lease rentals paid —BEfHERS
Within financing cash flows BERBERERE
— lease rentals paid —BEfNHEERS

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the

modified retrospective approach and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17. Previously, cash payments
under operating leases made by the Group as a
lessee were classified as operating activities in the
consolidated cash flow statement. Under HKFRS 16,
except for payments for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets, all other rentals paid on leases
are now split into capital element and interest element
(see Note 19(b)) and classified as financing cash
outflows. Under the modified retrospective approach,
the comparative information is not restated. Further
details on the impacts of the transition to HKFRS 16
are set out in Note 2(c).
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PEE

HERSREAE
BeRnEXRPHENSHEBEATREA

2019 2018

—E-NF —FN\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBFIT

(Note)

(F5E)

3,099 11,756

8,240 -

11,339 11,756
$Elﬁﬁm aLﬁiémﬁmE:%ﬁﬁiﬁ

AIZE16%  WHAE_T—NF—A—HONBNE
%Mﬁw@%%%aﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁm DR

HHENHENCRREEREERE - UWEAE
BEREABAANKEEETHRENTREGEERS
MEBRNDBR/BETES - REESTEHREENE
165k - REHIHE RIKE Tﬁﬁéfﬁhﬂ\ TR EM
ENEEEER D KERLOFMF S (R
19(b))  WHEABERESRD ° *ETJ;%% ERIREY:]
% WEBIALRER - BERBEVERELE
RIZE165R I BN IFE N EE2(c)



20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables

Payables for staff related costs

Payables for miscellaneous taxes

Payables for selling expenses incurred for
digital point business

Advance from a non-controlling equity
shareholder of a subsidiary (Note 19(b))

Refundable deposit received from a third party
in connection with a templated capital
injection into a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group (Note 28)

Others

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Deposits received from business partners in

connection with the digital point business
Receipts-in-advance received from customers
Deferred income

All of the trade and other payables are expected to
be settled or recognised as revenue within one year

or are repayable on demand.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade payables included in trade and other

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

20 BZRHMENARE

B 5 IR

8 T HERAAK 2N HY B~ Z0B

FESHEERT

FEERETE D IS ER
HERS
RE—REH B A R R FEERL
REZSPRER BN B R (MF3E19(0))
B —BE=HAEE /M
BB ATRITER
AR ER S (izEes)

HAt

RESHA ST EN S RBI(E
BERANEESFEDES
EBBHNES

AW E P FRIA

BN

payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 3 months
3 to 6 months
Over 6 months

RITSERAR IR

(B AR - AARBIIR)

At 31 At 31
December December
2019 2018
RZE—-hE RZT—)\F
+=A=+-8 +t-A=+—~
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETIT
10,440 17,954

6,974 6,258

543 2,782

2,259 8,286
100,000 -
10,000 -
18,554 6,467
138,330 23,793
148,770 41,747
1,439 1,000

336 147

1,254 584
151,799 43,478

FIBE S hEMENFRIBERN —FRGEEKER
RSWAIZEREE -

BERESHR  AABZREMENKIBAZESE
NFEENERBHINRE DT

At 31 At 31
December December
2019 2018
R-ZZB—NE KT \F
t=A=+—-8A +=A=+—~H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFRE  ARETRT
=REAR 9,937 17,536
=Z XA 154 239
fRiE 7~ E A 349 179
10,440 17,954
ERFBEEERQIXT T NEFFEHRE
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21

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Group’s convertible bonds are analysed as

follows:

At 1 January 2018

Accrued finance charges
for the year (Note 7(a))

Interest paid

Exchange adjustments

Fair value changes on the derivative
components (Note 7(a))

Redemption, extinguishment and
recognition of convertible bonds

At 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019

Accrued finance charges for
the year (Note 7(a))

Interest paid

Exchange adjustments

Fair value changes on the derivative
components (Note 7(a))

Redemption, extinguishment and
recognition of convertible bonds

At 31 December 2019

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

21 TRRES

R=—ZF—\F—A—H
AEE RS E A (7 (@)

BAFE

PE WA

$74 T B ATEEH
(Pt =E7(a))

B BB RER AR ES

R-ZBE—N\F+_A=+—H
;k=F—-—NF—H—H

RNEE R E A (M7 @)

BAFE

i 5, =

PTETABH AT EES
(P 5E7(a))

B B ERER AR ES

RZZF—hF+=-—A=+—H
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AREEABRBEZSIT

Liability Derivative
components components Total
a8E&%s TEIAHS #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFIT ARBTT AREBTT
59,031 26,044 85,075
11,385 = 11,385
(7,480) - (7,480)
3,127 1,350 4,477
- (26,438) (26,438)
(21,700) (884) (22,584)
44,363 72 44,435
6,804 = 6,804
(4,542) - (4,542)
359 2 361
- (245) (245)
(19,857) 184 (19,673)
27,127 13 27,140




21

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

In June 2015, the Company issued two secured
convertible bonds with an aggregate face value
of USD10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB61,176,000) to Chance Talent Management
Limited (“Chance Talent”), a third party, (together,
“CB1”). On the date of issuance, both bonds bore
interest at 13% per annum and were to mature in
June 2018, where Chance Talent could convert them
into the Company’s ordinary shares at the respective
stipulated conversion prices before their maturity
dates.

In December 2017, the Company has extinguished
CB1 and issued secured convertible bonds with face
value of USD10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB66,066,000) to Chance Talent (“CB2”). On
the date of issuance, CB2 bore interest at 13% per
annum, were to mature in June 2019 and secured by
109,348,662 ordinary shares in the Company owned
by Century Investment (Holding) Limited (“Century
Investment”). Chance Talent could convert CB2 into
the Company’s ordinary shares at HK$1.209 per
share before the maturity date.

In July 2018, the Company and Chance Talent
entered into an agreement to amend the terms
of CB2 which constituted significant contract
modifications, and accordingly, CB2 has been
accounted for as extinguishment of the original
financial instrument and the recognition of a new
financial instrument. Pursuant to this agreement, the
Company redeemed an aggregate principal amount
of USDS,300,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB21,994,000) of CB2 in cash and provided an
additional 45,347,514 shares in the Company owned
by Century Investment as securities for CB2 in 2018.
The remaining principal amount of USD6,700,000
was to mature in June 2019 and could be converted
into the Company’s ordinary shares at HK$1.209 per
share before the maturity date in June 2019 (“CB3”).

Notes to the Financial Statements

RITSERAR IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)

21

R RAE S ()

R-ZB—RF/;NA ' NAFIEM—FHZE = Chance
Talent Management Limited ([Chance Talent]) Z77HE
{E42%8/310,000,000% 7T (A E M A R #61,176,000
JC) ML A B AR E A (BB TR E S
—1) - REEITHE » ZEEHFHIRFFE13%T B
B == — \E/XAEIE - mChance Talentr] £:%
EEFIPRAIESBREEAREBARZEESR
KAR LB -

RZE—+F+_F ARAIEBETBRERES
— 31T EEA10,000,000E T (HWER AR
66,066,0007T) %7 B H R AT IR ES ([FI R E
% —|) FChance Talent - RE{THE - A[RKRE
E_IREMEAS%TE - R _ZE—NENAEIE
K HCentury Investment (Holding) Limited ([Century
Investment ) %A #9109,343,662% AN A 7 & 3@ % 1
3 o Chance Talentm] A ZIH# H AL &A% 1.20978 7T
AT AR ES = AR A R E B

R-ZZ—N\Ft A KAAQalEChance Talenti] 3L
— I8 - BMERT AT RARE S — MK - %ISR
REAESXER - At - ATERESF -_WARAS
Etem T ARER BN TE - BIEZ
W ARARUESERAIRKRES - AE @5
3,300,000 7T (95 AR #21,994,0007T) KR
—ZT— \FEIMEH A Century InvestmentiE A HY
45,347 514 AR R B R0 E A AT R AR (& 5 — MK 1
T o FIERHY N4 58 56,700,000 7T © BR=ZF—H1
FRARE - WAIRZZE—NFE/NAEEE A
H>§1.209;‘%%%%@2%$@ET%@H&(fﬁj?ﬁﬂi%%
=1 o

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS
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21

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

On 3 June 2019, the Company and Chance Talent
agreed to further amend the terms of CB3 which
constituted significant contract modifications,
and accordingly, CB3 has been accounted for as
extinguishment of the financial instrument recognised
in July 2018 and the recognition of a new financial
instrument. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company
redeemed a principal amount of USD2,700,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB18,202,000) of CB3
in cash on the same day, and the remaining principal
amount of USD4,000,000 is to mature in June 2020
and can be converted into the Company’s ordinary
shares at HK$1.209 per share from 22 July 2019 to
the maturity date in June 2020.

The aggregate difference between the redemption,
extinguishment and recognition and the carrying
amount of CB3 took place in 2019 amounted to a
gain of RMB1,471,000 (2018: RMB590,000) which
has been recognised in profit or loss during the year
(see Note 7(a)).
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R RAE S ()

RZZE—NFRNA=H ' NA7F KChance Talent
B E#E— TET I BRRES =GR - ZISFTEK
ERAHMED - Al - AIRRESFZEHRARESE
EBRZZE—N\FLAERANEH T ERER BT
ST HE - BEZWE ARAFRRABANURESE
O Al AR E A& = A€ 2,700,000 T (SR AR
18,202,0007T) @ FElgrA £ 54,000,000 TR =
—EFEXRAHE AR ZE-NFEA=-+=H
E2-ETFENAMBEA L 0 AR .20978 T
HBARN B EEA -

—NFERENTHRRES=IER - BFELE
;%éﬁiﬁ%E@ZF&E%@%%&Z%%T&/\E%,471,000
m(_f \E : ARBS90,0007T) @ BRAREER
B NER(RKE7@E) °
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LEASE LIABILITIES 22 HEAE
The following table shows the remaining contractual TRETRARENRARBEZEB BN EHRESE
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end AIEE16 M BHIASBEHESE 2 RS L EIH
of the current period and at the date of transition to H:
HKFRS 16:
31 December 2019 1 January 2019 {Note)
W=B-nEt=A=+-H RE-NF-A-B ()
Present value Present value
of the minimum Total minimum of the minimum Total minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments
RERENZRE  REEENREE  SEHENIRE  SEEERTEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR AEETT ARRTT
Within 1 year —n 1,179 2,100 7330 8,20
After 1 year but vithin 2 years —ER{BNRER 1,185 1,287 619 7%
2,064 3387 7949 9020
Less: tota future interest expenses B ARAE R (423 (1,071)
Present value of lease iabilties HEEERE

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS
17. Comparative information at 31 December 2018
has not been restated. Further details on the impacts
of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 2(c).

2,064 7949

it AREEBKETEPEERERE BT BHRELE
AIE165% - WHB-T—NF—A—BHHIv&ER
NHERRBRB LB 1TREMDBAEEH
EMHENEERE  YEEINR-_ZT—/\Ft+=
A=+—HMALRER - BREREHBRELE
AIE165R MR B R BRI FE2(C) °

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS
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23

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has a share option scheme which
was adopted on 28 June 2010 whereby the
directors of the Company are authorised, at their
discretion, to invite any full-time or part-time
employees, executives, officers or directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Group
and any advisors, consultants, agents, suppliers,
customers, distributors and such other persons who,
in the sole opinion of the directors of the Company,
will contribute or have contributed to the Group,
to take up share options at HK$1 to subscribe for
ordinary shares in the Company.

On 3 October 2016, 80,000,000 share options were
granted to directors of the Company and employees
of the Group under the above share option scheme.
All of the share options granted will vest after one
year from the date of grant. Each share option gives
the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary
share in the Company at HK$1.41 and is settled
gross in shares. The share options granted in 2016
have expired on 3 October 2019.

On 7 August 2018, 72,000,000 share options
were granted to a director of the Company under
the above share option scheme. All of the share
options granted will vest immediately from the date
of grant and will mature on 3 May 2023. Each share
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company at HK$1.21 and is
settled gross in shares.
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23 RESEFAREUROGA/ERNRKS

ARARER_ZE—ZTFXA -+ \AERANE
PeiEstEl - it ARAEFRRBRARNIBES
AEBEAE2BAFRBES  HITAE  SHARE
XEF(BERBIUFNTES) RARAEZE2ER
R RAREBE R E EH B BV E(I IR - B
MR HERm - BF  2EBRZFEMAL
RIBTTERABREARBAR DRI EBR -

R-—Z—7"%F+HA=H ' 80,000,000 i& A% R
BERBEREAZRTFARARESRAEEES -
M ABRESR B R BTN —F185R
B - SHEIER T15E AR AR 418 TTREA
ANa—REBRBEABRDEHELEE - —T—RFR
HEEREER "S- NF+A=HER °

RZZE—N\ENA+H 72,000,000 B ERIE
BREIETARA—RESE - TEEREER
EEEREESHNEEEY SN S =FRA=
HEH - BB T8 AR 218 R
RAB—RERBAE R AR D 28 EE -



23 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(@) The terms and conditions of the share
options granted are as follow:

Share options granted to directors:
KT ESHHRE -
-0On 3 October 2016

-RZEB-—RF+H=H

-0On 7 August 2018
-R=F-N\FNAtR

Share options granted to employees:
BT 1R B eREARE -
- 0On 3 October 2016

-R=FE—~"F+A=H

Total share options granted

RhmRERERR

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
price of share options are as follows:

Outstanding at the beginning RERITE
of the year B
Granted during the year RERFRL
Expired during the year i
Outstanding at the end of the year ~ IRERKATHE
Exercisable at the end of the year RERAIE

The share options outstanding at 31 December
2019 had a weighted average exercise price
of HK$1.21 (2018: HK$1.31) and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 3.3 years
(2018: 2.5 years).
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23 RESEFEIUROA/ERNKS (B

(a) FIRBRENERREEDT

Number of Vesting Contractual life of
instruments condition share options
Rk
THAHA BBGNT BHH
One year from
45,000,000 the date of grant 3 years
GEHAY
REETH—F 3F
72,000,000 No vesting condition 4.74 years
BRI 4745
One year from
35,000,000 the date of grant 3 years
BEL AL
AT —5F 3F
152,000,000
(b) BREHKERMEFHTEEDOT :
2019 2018
“E-hE —IT\E
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price  share options  exercise price  share options
mETY ETH )
T6EE BREZE 1T6EE BIkERR
HK$ HKS
B BT
1.31 147,000,000 1.41 75,000,000

- 121 72,000,000
141 (75,000,000) -

1.21 72,000,000 1.31 147,000,000
1.21 72,000,000 1.31 147,000,000

R-ZB—AE+ - A=+—BRITEEREN M
EFHITEEBAEI21ET(ZE—N\F : 1.3157T)
M THMEFEHAE N AIIFE(ZE—\F 25
) o

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS
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25
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DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
Note 2(t), the Group has not recognised deferred tax
assets in respect of unused tax losses and temporary
differences of RMB617,766,000 at 31 December
2019 (2018: RMB468,756,000), as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses
and temporary differences can be utilised will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The
unused tax losses at 31 December 2019 will expire
on or before 31 December 2024.

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(@) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and
closing balances of each component of the

24 EEHBEENREE

REAWELEREEE

RIEN 2T TR - AREEBERE A
EEA - BEDKA LA KK FE R A A 88 7]
HEACREBEREREEZRE  HASER-Z
—NE+-_A=t—BYERRSAFHEEERE
Bt =% ARE617,766,000T (ZZE—/\F : AR
#468,756,00070) MRELEHIBEE - R_Z— 1
F+-_A=1+—H APAFHBSEHER=_ZT_H
F+-A=+—Hz&ZHE °

25 BAX FERERE

(a) HREFIINEH
AEBEGS RSB NFNNEREH Y
RENEAERZEE R - AR RER B xS

Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the REVERER 2 FEFFEHHIAOT -
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual
components of equity between the beginning and
the end of the year are set out below:
Share Share Capital Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
e RinaE BN B 5 (et ZitER Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RVB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT ARBFT
(Note 25(c) ~ (Note 25(cl()) ~ (Note 25(d)fi))  (Note 25(a]i)
(ko) (Makos)) (ks (Rskesid)in)
Balanceat1January 2018~ W=B-\F-F-Rf&H 117978 1,265,547 42573 - (1,130,062) 296,036
Changesinequity for 2018:  R=Z-N\EMHRERET .
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (75,013) (75,013)
Other comprehensiveincome ~ Eft2ENE = = = 3511 - 3511
Total comprehensive income. 2 ENE#E - - - 3511 75,013 (71,502)
Issuance of warrants BT - - 1290 - - 1290
Purchase of own shares: EINET R
~ par value paid -BAEE (166) - - = = (166)
~ premium paid -BF&E - (1,758) = = = (1,758)
Equity-settled share-based EaEENRAAERNRS
fransactions - - 18,133 - - 18,133
(166) (1,758) 19,423 - - 17,499
Balance at 31 December 2018 W=Z-\E+=A=t1-H
fekeh 117812 1,263,789 61996 3511 (1,205,075) 249,033




25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(CONTINUED)
Movements in components of equity (a) HEZTHWEE (B
(continued)
Share Share Capital Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
v RHEE EXGE EX G ZitER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTr  ARETR  ARETn
(Note 25(c)  (Note 25(d)(i))  (Note 25(d)(ii) (Note 25(d)fiii)
(Wakos(c)  (WEE25())  (aEos(a)i)  (AEaEs(d)i)
Balanceat1January 2019  W=E-h&-F-AMEH
(Note) (Krzt) 117812 1,263,789 61,09 3511 (1,205,075) 242,033
Changesinequity for 2019:  R=E-NENRRET .
Loss for the year ERnEE - - - - (108,638) (108,638)
Other comprehensiveincome ~ Eft2ENE - - - 3,604 - 3,604
Totel comprefensieincome 2 EWEAE - - - 3,604 (108,638) (105,084)
Transfer between reserves Gl (H2s(d))
INote 25(d)i) - - (#257) - 42573 -
Balance at 31 December 2019 W=Z-AF+-B=1-H
ftkes 117812 1,263,789 10423 7115 (1,21,140) 136,999

Note: The Group, including the Company, has initially
applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under

this approach, comparative information is

not restated and there is no net effect on the

opening balance of the Company’s equity as
at 1 January 2019. See Notes 2(c) and 30.

izt ARE(BEARR)R-_T-NF—A-BEAL

ERZHEEERAE

ERTRME B INERB SRS LR E165 o 1R
Bt 5% WESHIATLLRER - BEARRIRZ
T—NF—A—BESHBVESRITETTE - A
BfaE2(c) %230 °
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Dividends

()

(i)

Dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year

The directors of the Company do not
recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: RMBNIil).

Dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company
attributable to the previous financial
year, approved during the year

The directors of the Company did not
recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMBNIl).

Share capital

(i)

Issued share capital

Authorised: EE -

Ordinary shares of USD0.01 each  &&EE0.01%7T

gl
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(b) K2
U

(ii)

FET A 2 Al i IR R A IR

ARARBEEIERRNBE_FT—NF
TA=+—HALFEZRERE(CF
—N\F: AREZT) °

REFEHEZENE L A2 RRIE
£ =R FEHIRE

KRR ESTEZRNEE T —\F
+_A=+—BHULtFEZRE(CZE—+
F: AREZTT) -

(c) MRA&
() EBTRE
2019 2018
—E-0E “BN\F
No. of shares No. of shares
RBEE BnEE
’000 USsD’000 '000 USD'000
TR TEn T TET
5,000,000 50,000 5,000,000 50,000




25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Share capital (continued)

()

(ii)

Issued share capital (continued)

Ordinary shares of USD0.01 E&{TREMERIM

each, issued and fully FREE0OIETZ
paid: EERK

At 1 January n—A—H

Shares repurchased By

At 31 December W+=ZR=1+—H

Warrants

In 2018, the Company entered into
a warrant subscription agreement
with Century Investment, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to issue
298,000,000 unlisted warrants (the
“Warrants”) at a price of HK$0.01 per
warrant to Century Investment. Each
warrant entitles the holder to acquire
one ordinary share in the Company at
an exercise price of HK$1.38 per share
from a period commencing on the date
that is six months after the issue date
and ending on the fifth anniversary
date of the issue date. The total
amount of proceeds, net of transaction
costs, of HK$1,480,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB1,290,000) was
credited to the Company’s capital reserve
account.

During the year ended 31 December
2019, no warrant was exercised (2018:
Nil).

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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() BxEE)

() EBERITRFEE
2019 2018
—E-NF —FN\F
No. of shares No. of shares
BRHEE BnEE
’000 RMB’000 '000 RMB’000
TR ARETR T AREFTT
1,810,953 117,812 1,813,509 117,978
- - (2,556) (166)
1,810,953 117,812 1,810,953 117,812
(i) FRREE

RZZ—N\F ' AAalECentury
Investmenti] 37 sRARHE B R BB ek - 1B
It R RARIRERSH RBIEF0.0178 7T
KB #§3£17298,000,00017 FE L 1 R AKAE
& ([RMHEZE]) FCentury Investment o
BORBEER FEHEE AEMNRETH
Mt NEAEAELRETREER
EEF B IEBREERTEESRR1.38%8 T
U B — P& A% o FTSRUBAREIBR R
SN 51,480,000 70 (K E 1 AR
1,290,0007T) ' T ALRR R E A ER
E o

BE_Z-NAF+_A=+—HILF
B WETERRER (ZF—/\F:
&) -

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

()

(ii)

(i)

Share premium
The application of the share premium
account is governed by Section 34 of the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands.

Capital reserve
Capital reserve comprises the follow:

- the portion of the grant date
fair value of unexercised share
options granted to directors of the
Company and employees of the
Group that has been recognsied
in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based
payments in Note 2(s)(ii); and

- the unexercised portion of the
warrants issued.

As mentioned in Note 23, the share
options granted in 2016 expired in 2019,
and accordingly, the equity amount
previously recognised in capital reserve
was released directly to accumulated
losses.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements
of operations which have a functional
currency other than RMB, the Group’s
presentation currency, into RMB. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policy set out in Note
2(w).
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(d)
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)

(ii)

(i)

BRGEE
FARMDSEERIFESHEAFIF22E
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RAEET) FE3AIREETE o

BEX@E
BEARFEEETNIIE
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TEBRENE L BB FER
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(d)

()

Nature and purpose of reserves
(continued)

(iv) Other reserve
Other reserve comprises the follow:

— the difference between the
consideration paid and the carrying
values of the non-controlling
interests acquired by the Group in
prior years; and

- the difference between the amount
of capital injections made by
non-controlling equity holders of
a subsidiary of the Group and
the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the
subsidiaries’ net identifiable assets.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the
level of risk and by securing access to finance
at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher equity shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in
light of changes in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(d)

(e)

EEZHER B8 )

(iv) Eftf#E
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26 MHEAREEREMIANDTE

166

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s
business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial
risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(@) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables and contract assets.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and cash equivalents is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit standings, for which
the Group considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of
each debtor rather than the industry in which
the debtors operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure to
individual debtors. At the end of the reporting
period, 71.3% (2018: 63.9%) and 99.0% (2018:
93.2%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest trade debtor and the
five largest trade debtors respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed
on all debtors requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
debtor’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the debtor as
well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the debtor operates. Trade receivables
are generally due immediately from the date
of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from debtors.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
and other receivables and contract assets
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different debtor segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is
not further distinguished between the Group’s

Notes to the Financial Statements
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RITSERAR IR

(B AR - AARBIIR)

26

BHEAREERERMIANDTEGE

(@) FEREEE

AEBIZRENERBEGRET B2 BEFE
HMEREEBRZ B EE S RE MR
HEEHEEZEBEREE - AN AKEZBE
EEBEBRLRYERTREEADBBTEAN
EREAZR  REAPRESHEZ BREE

VEAARENRAEFPRZHE—FED

different debtor bases.

The following tables provide information about
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs

for trade receivables:

Less than 3 months past due

Over 3 months but within 6 months
past due

QOver 6 months but within 1 year
past due

Over 1 year past due

Less than 3 months past due

Over 3 months but within 6 months
past due

Over 6 months but within 1 year
past due

BHOR=1EA

BHBB=EARSHAEA
DR

BEEBEAE
BHEe—F

amIR={EA
BEEA=EABLIN/EA

aMEE A EABIR—F

TRIEHEBAKEE Z R IEFAE 2
EERERLBEREEBEZEM

At 31 December 2019
R-ZE-AE+=A=1+—-H

Gross

Expected carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
BHEER IREAE g be]
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR®TR AR®TR
2% 5,250 (109)
14% 474 (65)

=

80% 78 (62)
100% 74 (74)
5,876 (310)

At 31 December 2018
RZZ-\E+=HA=+—H

Gross

Expected carrying
loss rate amount  Loss allowance
TEEEIRE RELE EiERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARETT AREFT
0.5% 19,616 (98)
10% 765 (77)
15% 199 (30)
20,580 (205)

ERPSHEEERLIT —TNFFERS
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

The expected loss rates are based on actual
loss experience adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Movements in the loss allowance account in
respect of trade and other receivables during
the year are as follows:

26

BHEAREERERMTANDTEGE

(a)

FERR (3
BEHEBERXREBEREEERELHARE - UK
BREEVSBE BIE M A 2 IR © E AR
R ARG B R MR 2 TRER R 2 AR
ZERZMZEZR -

FREBE S REMEWRGIEREERHRE
E) N

2019 2018

—g-nE T )\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Balance at 1 January R— A — B4 70,635 43,529

Exchange adjustments bE H A% 440 695
Impairment losses recognised during the — “E R E ERREE 12 (15E6)

year (Note 6) 36,779 26,504

Amounts written off during the year FRMESRE (43,993) (93)

Balance at 31 December RTZA=+—HN4&H 63,861 70,635
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk

The treasury function is centrally managed
by the Group, which includes the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
funds to cover expected cash demands. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines
of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following tables show the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
dates the Group can be required to pay.

Trade and other payables measured ~ REHSER AT ENE 5

at amortised cost NEMERTFUR
Convertible bonds AHRRES

— liability components —B&EHS
Lease liabilties (Note) HEEE M)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(b)

BRMERAEETRER - SRS RHKRH
RHRE  UREKESUREBERREH
Ko AEENHREEETHREERBESHER
KRERZHOEITER - NEREREHRES
#E BXEZcmMBAmRERTunmEs
B emENESLRENRBESTE -

TRINRAEER HRE R RIRE L RBRRS
mE (BRRERE AN RK (NEFE) NikE S
AREIREG M R B AR SMNFO A EAENTES
BEENRRSOHR  UARAEEEREER
SRR RT A -

2019
=l

Contractual undiscountedcash outflow

ENRBRRERH
More than

Within 1 year 1 year but less Carrying
or on demand than 2 year Total amount
—FR BB-F
HRERER BIME wct HREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

148,770 - 148,770 148,770
29,7119 - 29,7119 27,127
2,100 1,287 3,387 2,964
180,589 1,287 181,876 178,861

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Trade and other payables measured at amortised cost

Convertible bonds - liability components

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16

using the modified retrospective approach and
adjusted the opening balances at 1 January
2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to
leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not
restated. See Note 2(c).
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(b) REBESERE(E

BBERATTENE S REML

FER0R

ERER - BB

Fi3

2018
T )\F

Contractual

undiscounted

cash outflow
within 1 year or Carrying
on demand amount

—FA

BRERA

BHREE
Bem FEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREFTT
41,747 41,747
48,882 44,363
90,629 86,110

RNEBFERLSTBR P AERERE BTG
WRELRF165E  WAE-_T—IF—A—
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26 HHEREERESMIANDTEEGE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(c) Interest rate risk (c) FI=Ek
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily AEBNFERREZEREEETIEES °
from interest bearing bonds issued. Borrowings FEAEREEMNEERD BIEAREATE
issued at variable rates and at fixed rates EREHNERER XA ENERRR

expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
and fair value interest rate risk respectively.

Interest rate profile FIEHELR
The following table details the interest rate IR R B E R A (B RN R BDR,

profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end of
the reporting period.

2019 2018
“E-NF —E-)\F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate rate
BEFIZE BERRA =
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Fixed rate borrowings: EEFZER
Convertible bonds AAkES
- liability components e 19.99% 27,127 24.58% 44,363
Fixed rate borrowings EEFZER
as a percentage of EREEE I
total borrowings 100% 100%

ERZB/EEERLA T NFFERS
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

26

BHEAREERERMTANDTEGE

(d) Currency risk (d E¥ER
The Group is exposed to currency risk AEEEE F ZEEREAINE (BNER S5 H @
primarily through borrowings which give rise BIEEEE NN EE) BENERRE 4
to borrowings and cash balances that are HREAEERR - ERZERBHNEE X2 A%
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a TC o BT RARE o REERERN Y ERIZR
currency other than the functional currency BEXREBEINEABRAR RS - AWM iSFRER
of the operations to which the transactions HEFFTE AL A AY KT ©
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily USD, HK$ and RMB. The Group
ensures that the net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates where necessary to
address short-term imbalances.
The following table details the Group’s TRFMRNEERNHREAREANEHAEEE
exposure at the end of the reporting period to B IN BESENERAREESBEME
currency risk arising from recognised assets or EREERR o BEITIIR - BERMR SR
liabilities denominated in a currency other than ARG MARANEERTE - LARKIR - &
the functional currency of the entity to which BIEE AN R AN 58 & 8 5T & 89 81 75
they relate. For presentation purposes, the FREEREEZVNEBERNELRE -
amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB,
translated using the spot rates at the end of the
reporting period. Differences resulting from the
translation of financial statements of operation
with a functional currency other than RMB
into the Group’s presentation currency are
excluded.
At 31 December 2019 At 31 December 2018
R=B-nE+=A=+-H RZE-N\E+=A=1-A
usD HK$ RMB ) HK$
EY BT ARE e BT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET TR ARBTR ARBT TR AT ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEER 2,042 2,430 39,795 5,905 1,299
Other payables EfENzE (394,529) (142,983) - (362,721) (167,468)
Convertible bonds makES (27,140) - - (44,435) -
Gross exposLre arising from ERAAERAREE
recognised assets and liabilties ipfElrcks (419,627) (140,553) 39,795 (401,251) (166,169)
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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BHEAREERERMIANDTEGE

(CONTINUED)
(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥ER(E)
Sensitivity analysis BRESHT
The following table indicates the instantaneous TRIVREEFTE bR S e - K
change in the Group’s loss after tax and SERHREPRAERNEMEEHEKNRR
accumulated losses that would arise if foreign HAEBRTEETRER 25 EBEEER RS
exchange rates to which the Group has B o phittm s - EERERBITEE TR EEIE X
significant exposure at the end of the reporting TEXRETHEMEEHEE RS F 02
period had changed at that date, assuming all FHEATE -
other risk variables remained constant. In this
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate
between HK$ and US$ would be materially
unaffected by any changes in movement in
value of the US$ against other currencies.
2019 2018
—E-NF —FN\F
Increase/ Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) (decrease)
(decrease) in loss after Increase/ in loss after
in foreign tax and (decrease) tax and
exchange accumulated in foreign accumulated
rates losses exchange rates losses
BHEER BRieEE
HNEER REHER HNERE = REiEE
FR/(TH)  #m/CH2) EA/(RE) #m/(hd)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFT
usD eV 5% 20,981 5% 20,063
(5%) (20,981) (5%) (20,063)
HKS BT 5% 7,028 5% 8,308
(5%) (7,028) (5%) (8,308)
RMB AR 5% (1,990) = =
(5%) 1,990 - -
ERZEEMERAT —T - NEFEEE | 173
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(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Currency risk (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ loss after tax and accumulated
losses measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period
for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
change in foreign exchange rates had
been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the Group
which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or
the borrower. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2018.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value
of the Group’s financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 183, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value
measured using only Level 1 inputs,
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets
or liabilities at the measurement
date.

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value
measured using Level 2 inputs, i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available.

= Level 3 valuations: Fair value
measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Recurring fair value REMDATHEGE
measurement
Financial assets: PREE
~ Held-for-trading ~BER SRR RE
investments (Note 16) (Fy5E16)
Financial liabilties: SRERE:

- Derivative components of  — AT BREFMITET
convertible bonds (Note 21) B &b (Fit21)

During the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.
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() AFEFEGR

() URAFEFTENZHEEREEE
D FEZR (E)
Fair value measurements Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2019 at 31 December 2018
categorised into categorised into

RZE-NE+-A=+—H RZE-\F+-A=+—H
PRAZAERHLTENE SEAZAEROATEE

Level 1 Level 3 Level 1 Level 3
E— F=R 1 E=M|
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETTT ARETTT
2,631 - 3,062 -

- 13 - 72

RBE_Z-NFER-_ZT-N\F+_A
=+t HLFE F-REE_HZH
WEBBEYVERLE="RBAREL -
REE BRI BN ELERNFESFRE
ZEBHRE B 2 PIRMERERE -



26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

Derivative components of convertible bonds

Al AT E T AR D

The fair values of the conversion options
embedded in the convertible bonds are
determined using the binomial lattice
model and the significant unobservable
input used in the fair value measurement
is expected volatility. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to
the expected volatility. At 31 December
2019, it is estimated that with all other
variables held constant, an increase
in the expected volatility by 5% would
have increased the Group’s net loss
by RMB15,000 (2018: RMB95,000),
whereas a decrease in the expected
volatility by 5% would have decreased
the Group’s net loss by RMB9,000 (2018:
RMB60,000).

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B SAEHBAIN - UARES
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() AFEFEGR

() HURFEFENEHEEREEE)
BRE =R FEIELER

Significant

Valuation unobservable Weighted

technique input average
BANAEE

(EEEI BABUR INHEF 5
Binomial Expected

lattice model volatility 52.04%
—mE TRHRK IR

Bk AR

A IR AR (& 25 BR A RO IR AR A9 A {8 Th 8%
A-BEAZEEAET  MAFETE
Fr 2 EARN B R A SR ATERRK
g - AP EEEFEHKIEZIEFEREE
ReRZE—NF+_A=+—H ' &
e EmEHEFTIE - FEEFIE L
5% EHALEEEIBFHEEMARK
15,0007 (ZZ—\F : AR#¥095,000
J0) + A ERRE IR T FR5% BB S E K
EEFEERD ARE9 000 (ZF—N
£ : AR¥60,0007T) °
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

The movements during the year
in the balance of Level 3 fair value
measurements are as follows:

Derivative components of convertible
bonds:

At 1 January

Exchange adjustments

Changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss during the year

Redemptions, extinguishment and recognition

of convertible bonds

At 31 December

Fair values of financial assets and
liabilities carried at other than fair
value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s
financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values at 31 December
2019 and 2018.
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() AFEFEGR

() ULAFEHENZHEEEREEE)
BRE =R FEGENER (B)
EZRAFEFELEHONFREH W
‘|T
2019 2018
—E-hEF —FT—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
A REFNITE
TAEZD :
n—HA—H 72 26,044
P FE R 2 1,350
FRR IR ERAY
NEEED) (245) (26,438)
fEO -~ JBE RIER
AR ES 184 (884)
R+=—A=+—H 13 72
(i) HHBELFEIENEHBEERERERY

AFE
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27

COMMITMENTS

Operating lease commitments

At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases
were payable as follows:

Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 5 years

The Group is the lessee of certain office premises
and miscellaneous office equipment which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS
17. The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the Group adjusted the opening balances
at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating
to these leases (see Note 2(c)). From 1 January 2019
onwards, future lease payments are recognised as
lease liabilities in the statement of financial position
in accordance with the policies set out in Note 2(j),
and the details regarding the Group’s future lease
payments are disclosed in Note 22.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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WA ERE
RZZBE—NF+_A=+—8 ' BETAHHELEE
HERMHARRFEHSEENT :
Properties Others
ES Hh
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT
1R 9,887 364
A1 FE DR F 1,383 74
11,270 438

AEESREBEELEGTEREITHRELADBLLE
HENPLAENELRERPAZTREHAEA - &
SEERREEPNEEREREEN RS EL
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28

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

CAPITAL INJECTIONS FROM NON-
CONTROLLING EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF
A SUBSIDIARY OF THE GROUP

On 31 January 2019, PCL, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
separate agreements with three independent parties,
pursuant to which PCL will issue an aggregate
of 84,109,692 new ordinary shares at a total
subscription consideration of RMB300,000,000 to
the above investors.

Pursuant to the above subscription agreements, PCL
has undertaken to the above investors that if the
valuation of PCL in future financing which involves a
further subscription of PCL’s new ordinary shares is
less than USD400,000,000, PCL shall compensate
the above investors by issuing additional new
ordinary shares to the above investors in accordance
with the terms and conditions set out in the related
subscription agreements.

As at 31 December 2019, PCL has issued
56,073,128 new shares to two of the above
investors. Proceeds from one of the investors, net
of transaction costs, of RMB92,851,000 have been
received during the year ended 31 December 2019.
Proceeds from the other investor has not yet been
received while this investor granted an advance
of RMB100,000,000 to PCL which is non-interest
bearing and will mature upon receipt of the proceeds
for shares issued to this investor by PCL.

In December 2019, the subscription agreement
between PCL and the remaining investor has been
terminated. The deposit previously received from this
investor of RMB10,000,000 at 31 December 2019
(see Note 20) has been refunded to the investor in
January 2020.
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& F #9418 4 10400,000,000% 7T * 78 i RIEZ
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29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the balances disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the material related
party transactions entered into by the Group during
the year are set out below.

(@) Transactions with equity shareholders of
the Company
Details of guarantees provided by an equity
shareholder of the Company for the Group’s
convertible bonds are set out in Note 21.

(b) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel,
including amounts paid to the directors of the
Company as disclosed in Note 9 and certain
of the highest paid employees of the Group as
disclosed in Note 10, is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses

(c) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions
The related party transactions in respect of
guarantees provided by an equity shareholder
of the Company for the Group’s convertible
bonds are exempted from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Br BB HIN © UARKES
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AR PR I R L AR S B mT R AR (B A A A 42
REFFIEERHIEE21 ©
(b) EEESEASTHH
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2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
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M E R FERIK
ST IR 79 83
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30 THE COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investments in subsidiaries
Loans to a subsidiary

Current assets

Held-for-trading investments
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Other payables
Convertible bonds
Lease liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

NET ASSETS

Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited
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30 AATHFBEAMRRE

31 December 1 January 31 December

Note 2019 2019 2018
—E-hE —N\§

+=A TN +=A

Bk =t+-H —A—H =+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETFT AREFT

(Note) (Note)

(P ) (FfE)

2,371 5,229 2,645

15 41,326 40,113 40,113
17,916 13,827 13,827

61,613 59,169 56,585

2,474 2,909 2,909

17,329 132,564 132,564

1,938 33,858 33,858

98,336 73,788 73,788

120,077 243,119 243,119

- 7,053 7,053

16,962 6,183 6,183

21 27,140 44,435 44,435
589 2,122 -

44,691 59,793 57,671

75,386 183,326 185,448

136,999 242,495 242,033

- 462 -

136,999 242,033 242,033




30 THE COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRK e
Share capital A
Reserves 1B

TOTAL EQUITY MR

Note: The Company has initially applied HKFRS 16 at
1 January 2019 using the modified retrospective
approach. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See Note 2(c).

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 31 March 2020.

Cheng Jerome
Cheng Jerome
Director (Chairman)

EFFRE)
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30 AAQTMBAMIRE ()

31 December 1 January 31 December
Note 2019 2019 2018
—g-NE —2-)\F
T=A —T-NE T=A
Bk =t+-H —A—H =t+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREFT ARETT
(Note) (Note)
(FfEE) (FfE)
25
117,812 117,812 117,812
19,187 124,221 124,221
136,999 242,033 242,033

et . AEEEBEEFTEREN _"Z-NF—-A—HE
RIEMBEMBREERNF65 - RIBULTE - I
BB AL ER - RKIFE2(C) -

HESFER T _TF=-A=+—HitELRKET
%éﬁ o
Yuan Weitao
=EE
Director
B
ERPSHEEERLIT —TNFFERS
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31

32

(BEEHAIN - UAREIIR)

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Impacts from the Covid-19 Pandemic

The Covid-19 Pandemic since early 2020 has
brought about additional uncertainties in the Group’s
operating environment and may impact the Group’s
operations and financial position.

The Group has been closely monitoring the impact
from the Covid-19 Pandemic on the Group’s
businesses and has commenced to put in place
various contingency measures. The directors of
the Company confirm that these contingency
measures include but not limited to reassessing
changes (if any) to the customers’ preferences on
the types of goods or services and to align the
Group’s procurement strategies (where necessary),
reassessing the adequacy and sustainability of the
existing suppliers, expanding the Group’s supplier
base in a view to procure suitable goods and services
to meet custmers’ preferences on a timely basis,
and improving the Group’s cash management by
expediting debtor settlements and negotiating with
suppliers on payment extensions. The Group will
keep the contingency measures under review as the
Covid-19 Pandemic situation evolves.

As far as the Group’s businesses are concerned, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
Covid-19 Pandemic may impact on the repayment
abilities of the Group’s debtors, which in turn may
result in additional impairment losses on trade and
other receivables in future periods. These possible
impacts have not been reflected in the financial
information as of 31 December 2019, and the actual
impacts may differ from these estimates as the
Covid-19 Pandemic situation continues to evolve and
when further information may become available.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1
January 2019 using the modified retrospective
approach. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the
changes in accounting policies are disclosed in Note
2(c).
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34

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The directors of the Company consider the immediate
and ultimate holding company of the Company at 31
December 2019 to be Century Investment, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. This entity
does not produce financial statements available for
public use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments
and a new standard which are not yet effective for
the year ended 31 December 2019 and which have
not been adopted in these financial statements.
These developments include the following which may
be relevant to the Group.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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Revised Conceptual Framework for Finanoial Reporting 2018

MBHRERSER=—F—/\F &5

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business

ERBUMEERNESN - FHLHEE BFIAN)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material

FREEHEAEIREERES

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these developments is
expected to be in the period of initial application.
So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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5-Year Financial Summary

T F B 5 &

RESULTS ]

Revenue WA

Loss before taxation BRAATEE
Income tax (expense) credit P (B ) H e
Loss for the year FAEE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EER &

Total assets BERE
Total liabilities BERE
Net assets BEFE
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Year ended 31 December

BE+t=-A=1t—HLEE

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—T—RF ZE—RF Z=E—+F ZE-N\F ZE-h#F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFRE ARETR AREBTL ARBTL ARMTR
(restated)
(& E7)
170,355 385,468 167,632 50,977 204,112
(631,217) (265,879) (152,471) (263,896) (195,062)
16,264 25,512 (47,210) - -
(614,953) (240,367) (199,681) (263,896) (195,062)
At 31 December
W+=HA=+—8
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—T-RF ZT—RF T—+tF —T-N\F ZEB-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTIT AREBTIT AREFTT ARETT AR¥EFT:R
(restated)
(&E7)
776,118 733,837 451,569 177,425 271,065
(704,027) (647,224) (119,171) (87,913) (181,903)
72,091 86,613 332,398 89,512 89,162
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